

Juan Tello Erica Barbazza

# Health services delivery: a concept note

Working document



REGIONAL OFFICE FOR **Europe** 

# Health services delivery: a concept note

# Working document

October 2015

# Juan Tello and Erica Barbazza

Health Services Delivery Programme WHO Regional Office for Europe

# Abstract

In order for health services delivery to accelerate gains in health outcomes it must continuously adapt and evolve according to the changing health landscape. At present, the case for change is a compelling one. However, despite mounting attention put to reforming health services delivery, there remains a persisting lack of consensus on its conceptualization. This paper aims to take stock of the developments in the literature on health services delivery and lessons from the firsthand experiences of countries, viewing clarity on the performance, processes and system dynamics of health services delivery a prerequisite for the rollout, scale-up and sustainability of reforms. Through a mixed-methods approach, evidence from existing frameworks and tools for measuring services delivery, country case examples and commissioned papers have been reviewed around three key questions: what are the outcomes of health services delivery? How can the health services delivery function be defined? And, how do other health system functions enable the conditions for health services delivery?

### **Keywords**

DELIVERY OF HEALTH CARE DELIVERY OF HEALTH CARE, INTEGRATED HEALTH SERVICES HEALTHCARE SYSTEMS EUROPE

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office website (http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest).

#### © World Health Organization 2015

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use. The views expressed by authors, editors, or expert groups do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

# Table of Contents

List of figures	vi
List of tables	vi
List of boxes	vi
List of abbreviations	vii
Acknowledgements	viii
Preface	ix
About this document	1
Purpose and rationale	
Methods and sources of evidence	
Overview of sections	4
Section one: Performance outcomes for measuring health services delivery	6
Comprehensiveness	7
Coordination	8
Person-centredness	8
Effectiveness	9
Health system outcomes	10
Section two: Health services delivery processes	12
Health services delivery described: Services, settings, providers, levels and actors	
Health services delivery processes	
Selecting services	
Designing care	
Organizing providers	
Managing services	
Improving performance	29
Section three: Enabling health system conditions for services delivery	
Governing	
Financing	
Resourcing	
Human resources for health	
Medicines	
Health technologies	
Information systems	43
Final remarks	
Annex 1: Frameworks, tools and strategies reviewed	47
۔ Glossary of key terms	
References	50

# List of figures

	Page
Figure 1.1 Health services delivery causal chain: health services delivery outcomes	6
Figure 1.2 Health services delivery causal chain: health system outcomes	10
Figure 3.1 Determinants of health services delivery	32

# List of tables

	Page
Table 1.1 Examples of measures for the comprehensiveness of services delivery	7
Table 1.2 Examples of measures for the coordination of services delivery	8
Table 1.3 Examples of measures for the person-centredness of services delivery	9
Table 1.4 Examples of measures for the effectiveness of services delivery	10
Table 1.5 Examples of measures for the quality of services delivery	11
Table 1.6 Examples of measures for the efficiency of services delivery	11
Table 1.7 Examples of measures for the access of services delivery	11
Table 2.1 Overview of the health services delivery processes	12
Table 2.2 Health services delivery: services, settings and providers	13
Table 2.3 Examples of actors by levels of services delivery	15
Table 2.4 The role of the macro, meso and micro levels of services across HSD processes	15
Table 2.5 Examples of measures for selecting services	17
Table 2.6 Examples of measures for designing care	19
Table 2.7 Examples of measures for organizing providers	23
Table 2.8 Examples of measures for managing services	26
Table 2.9 Examples of measures for improving performance	29
Table 3.1 Other health system functions: processes and inputs for services delivery	34
Table 3.2 Paying providers: incentives for integrated health services delivery	38

# List of boxes

	Page
Box 2.1 Population stratification to tackle chronicity in the Basque Country	18
Box 2.2 Norway's comprehensive health promotion and chronic disease prevention centres	19
Box 2.3 Integrated childhood management: streamlining guidelines in the Republic of Moldova	20
Box 2.4 Acute care community nursing for early hospital discharge in Ireland	22
Box 2.5 Developing Home Health Care in Bulgaria for improved access to community-based care	24
Box 2.6 Mixing disciplines in the development of mental health services in Cyprus	25
Box 2.7 Aligning resources across the Eastern Lithuanian Region for improved cardiology services	27
Box 2.8 Multi-health professional practices – shared group performance targets and goals in France	28
Box 2.9 Remote learning for health professionals in Croatia	30
Box 2.10 Peer auditing of health services in Turkey	31
Box 3.1 Establishing a legal framework for patient engagement in Slovenia	35
Box 3.2 Piloting primary care fund holding for coordination of services in Hungary	39
Box 3.3 New specialization in palliative care in Serbia	41
Box 3.4 Tackling late-stage diagnosis and treatment in Montenegro with mHealth	45

# List of abbreviations

eHealth	Information and communication technology for health
GP	General practitioner
HSD	Health services delivery
ICT	Information and communication technology
IHSD	Integrated health services delivery
mHealth	Mobile health
NCDs	Noncommunicable diseases
ТВ	Tuberculosis
WHO	World Health Organization

# Acknowledgements

This document has been prepared by Juan Tello and Erica Barbazza of the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The work reflects the concepts underpinning activities of the Health Services Delivery Programme, together with its satellite office, the Centre for Primary Health Care in Almaty, Kazakhstan. The Programme is a technical unit within the Division of Health Systems and Public Health, directed by Hans Kluge.

The authors acknowledge and give sincere thanks to the following experts for their contributions on relevant sub-topics, specifically: Rifat Atun and Guilherme Trivellato (Harvard School of Public Health, United State of America) on health services delivery processes; Liesbeth Borgermans (Vrije Universiteit Brussels, Belgium) and Margrieta Langins (WHO Regional Office for Europe) on health workforce competencies; Fern Greenwell (Société Agapea Garnier, France) outcomes of health services delivery; Ran Balicer (Clalit Health Services, Israel) health system innovations; Kai Leichsenring (European Centre for Social Welfare and Research, Austria) on incentives for paying providers; Esther Suter (Alberta Health Services, Canada) on health system accountability; and Nick Goodwin, Lourdes Ferrer and Viktoria Stein (International Foundation for Integrated Care, United Kingdom) and Mary Jo Monk (Nova Scotia Health Services, Canada) in collaborations across key concepts on integrated health services delivery.

The work has taken shape between 2013 and 2015. At several stages consultations were convened with Member States and partnered experts in the context of discussing integrated health services delivery concepts and tools. Meetings were convened in Istanbul (Turkey), Brussels (Belgium) and Copenhagen (Denmark). This has included two technical meetings: a first kick-off meeting in February 2014 and in February the following year, for discussion and refinement of concepts. Participants at these events have included ministry of health appointed focal points on integrated health services delivery invited from all Member States as well as international experts in the field. Stakeholders, including provider and patient associations and civil society groups, have additionally met on one separate occasion, in April 2014, on related topics reviewed here. Discussions across technical units of the WHO Regional Office for Europe and with Heads of Country Offices have also been held throughout.

Note, this version (October 2015) of the document is undergoing invited expert review and following a period of revisions it will be superseded by an updated, final version in autumn of 2016.

For further information on this and related works, please visit the Health Services Delivery Programme webpage at http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/Healthsystems/health-service-delivery or contact the authors at CIHSD@euro.who.int.

# Preface

WHO recognizes that well-performing health systems are critical if population health and well-being are to be achieved. In 2000, in an effort to advance a shared vision and measurement framework for health systems, WHO classified four essential health system functions: stewardship (governing), financing, generating resources and delivering services (1). Overtime, an understanding of each has continued to evolve and deepen with subsequent reports and agreements: in 2007, the functions were reinforced as 'building blocks' defined in an approach for health system strengthening (2); in 2010, a monitoring and evaluation framework was aligned to provide a core set of indicators to monitor progress (3); and, in-parallel throughout the past decade, other, functionspecific works have allowed advancements on their individual particularities<sup>1</sup>.

At present, putting health system concepts into practice remains of great importance and priority continues to be weighted to health system strengthening globally. This is made explicit in the WHO Twelfth General Programme of Work for the period 2014-2019, with a priority cluster of technical activities and corporate services concentrated on strengthening health systems. The forthcoming global strategy for people-centred and integrated health services has been developed in line with this priority and is to be put to the World Health Assembly in 2016 (8).

In the WHO European Region, the signing of the 2008 Tallinn Charter marked the importance of well-functioning health systems for health and development and signalled the commitment of Member States for improving and being accountable for the performance of their health systems (9). More recently, the European health policy framework, Health 2020, recognized health system strengthening as one of four priority action areas in setting out a course of action for achieving the Region's greatest health potential by year 2020 (10).

The vision put forward by Health 2020 calls for people-centred health system. In doing so, it extends the same principles as first set out in the health-for-all agenda and primary health care approach from more than four decades earlier in the landmark Declaration of Alma-Ata of 1978. This includes equity, social justice, community participation, health promotion, the appropriate use of resources and intersectoral action (11). The continuity of these principles follows the proven usefulness of a primary health care approach worldwide and in the WHO European Region, as strong and equitable primary health care has been critical for health systems that have made significant progress towards universal health coverage, contributing to improved health outcomes, economic and social development (5), as well as wealth creation (3,9,12,13).

The importance of people-centred health systems echoes the priorities of partners in the European Region including the European Commission, OECD, Global Fund and the World Bank, as well as professional associations and civil society organizations, each supporting their constituents to strategize for strong health systems that enable citizens to lead healthy and self-determined lives.

In line with this collective priority and the implementation of Health 2020, the WHO Regional Office for Europe has worked to highlight specific entry points for strengthening people-centred health systems. To this end, the Regional Office has defined an approach for working intensively with Member States over the 2015-2020 period in two priority

<sup>1</sup> This includes, for example, subsequent World Health Reports and documents looking in-depth to health system functions of governance (4), financing (5), resourcing (6) and delivering services (7) as well as relevant resolutions of the World Health Assembly and summits on health systems strengthening such as the International Conference dedicated to the 30th and 35th Anniversary of the Alma-Ata Declaration on Primary Health Care, Almaty, Kazakhstan.

areas: transforming health services to meet the health challenges of the 21st century and moving towards universal coverage for a Europe free of catastrophic out-of-pocket payments (14).

This document takes the first of these priorities a step further. Observing the continuously evolving concepts related to health services delivery, both in reaction to the changing context and innovations, this work aims to bring together the literature and experiences of countries for a snapshot on current thinking. This is seen as a prerequisite to better supporting Member States in the rollout, scale-up and sustainability of health services delivery reforms.

The concepts explored here will be taken forward in the forthcoming Regional framework for action on integrated health services delivery (15): an action-oriented health systems framework committed to Member States in response to requests for technical support in accelerating health services delivery reforms. The development of the Framework was initiated in 2013 and has been defined in a planning document which serves as a guide for framing phases within a common vision; promoting coherence in activities and flagging opportunities for ample consultation and engagement with countries and partners (15). The Framework and its supporting implementation package will be presented to Member States for their endorsement at the 66th session of the WHO Regional Committee for Europe in fall of 2016.

# About this document

Just as the principle objective of a health system is to improve a population's health and well-being, the chief process that any health system needs to perform is the delivery of services (16). The health system's other functions of *governing*, *financing* and *resourcing* each have a stake in this process. For example, in some instances quality services may fail to be delivered at the right place and right time because health professionals have inadequate skills or because of a lack of medicines and equipment: these bottlenecks being the consequence of suboptimal training and investment, respectively. In other instances, misaligned incentives, for example, may contribute to barriers in the provision of services: this being the result of inadequate purchasing or payment.

These and other potential health system bottlenecks aside, even with all needed inputs, financial support and governance, the delivery of health services can be suboptimal for reasons that can be attributed exclusively to the function itself. This underscores the importance of the health services delivery function in strengthening health systems and its distinct role and contribution for ensuring that priorities of population health are realized.

The link between the performance of health services delivery and health outcomes is a compelling case for the prioritization of the services delivery function. For example, strong primary health care has been a successful approach for health systems to make significant progress towards universal health coverage, better health outcomes and economic and social development (5), as well as wealth creation (2,9,12,13). Focusing on those most pertinent population health problems and risk factors, for example, in tobacco control, obesity, HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis (TB), have too proven a clear link between robust health services delivery interventions and accelerated improvements in population health (10,17–20).

While solidified in its importance, characterizing health services delivery as a health system function has remained ambiguous (7,21). This is not for an absence of conceptual thinking. Numerous frameworks and tools for analysing and reporting on aspects of services delivery have been developed. Nevertheless, the study of health services delivery is multifaceted by nature. For example, its performance is not only predicted in part by other health system functions, it is also a composite of actions across all levels of the health system: from policies set nationally down to its most atomized form as the interaction between health professionals and patients (16,21). The challenge to conceptually account for this and its other dynamics has arguably stalled sophisticating an understanding of the function itself and its processes.

Conceptual challenges aside, there is clear consensus that in order for health services delivery to accelerate gains in health outcomes, it must continuously adapt and evolve according to the changing health landscape (22). At present, responding to these changes is an imperative. Across the European Region, populations are living longer than ever before and with increasing longevity has come greater susceptibility to disease and disability (23–25), multi-morbidities and chronicity (26–29). This has included in particular noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) like cancers, diabetes, chronic respiratory and cardiovascular diseases and mental illnesses (22). The delivery of services previously oriented towards a reactive, episodic, acute care model has in effect, rendered many systems ill-equipped to provide the proactive, continuous, preventive and promoting type of health services necessitated today.

Other trends calling attention to health services delivery have included in many countries the growing burden of persistent and re-emerging infectious diseases like TB; especially compromising among vulnerable and marginalized populations such as prisoners, ethnic minorities, and those living in remote areas (30). Concurrently, fiscal

constraints (31), new, amplified and worsened environment-associated risk factors (22), increasing public expectations about quality and safety (32), changing lifestyle and behavioural risk factors (33)"publisher":"World Bank","publisher-place":"Washington (DC and a growing demand for access to health services across borders (34,35), have placed added strain on both the demand and supply of health services delivery, while challenging the adequacy of conventional models of care.

A further catalyst motivating the continued evolution of health services delivery are those advancements in research, design and manufacturing that have made possible drastic changes in the way in which we alleviate pain, restore health and extend life. For example, innovative drug treatments and therapies have increasingly allowed the treatment and management of illness in the community and at-home. Similarly, new technologies have made possible ehealth, mhealth and other remote applications for care that can provide more personalized and often more affordable services in ways previously unimaginable (36).

In the context of these changes, across the WHO European Region health services delivery has shown an impressive ability to respond and adapt. While empirical evidence on impact remains to be realized (37), there has been a substantive volume of innovations and the widespread implementation of initiatives, from local, facility-specific efforts to regional or nationwide reforms in recent years. Despite this activity and presumed successes, many of these efforts have remained small-scale and context-specific, often with pre-set timeframes and funding limits, lying outside the system and rarely treated as core business from the outset (15,38). In effect, good intentions, ideas and projects have fallen short to fully benefit those whom reforms were originally designed to serve.

Transforming health services delivery is no easy task. The challenge to repurpose, reorganize, reconfigure or re-profile health services delivery has exposed the number of explicit choices to be taken in the process. What is more, services delivery reforms face the constraints of previous decisions taken, often accumulated over many decades, which dictate the basic features of the health system and thus, the institutional space for manoeuvring proposed changes. Ultimately, sophisticating a common understanding of the health services delivery function – its measurement, processes, and dynamics with the health system – is of pressing need, as a means to optimize the rollout, scale-up and sustainability of reforms and, ultimately, to ensure improvements in health and wellbeing are realized.

### Purpose and rationale

This document sets out to review ideas and experiences in reforming health services delivery towards a theoretically-informed and empirically-based understanding of the function; seen here as a requisite for optimizing reforms in real-world health systems. To do so, the following key questions were posed to guide the review process:

- 1. What are the outcomes of health services delivery?
- 2. How can the health services delivery function be defined? And;
- 3. How do other health system functions enable the conditions for health services delivery?

For the purpose of this paper, health services delivery is viewed at the interface with both the population and the individual's it aims to serve and the health system according to its other functions and the conditions these set. While the contribution of other factors,

notably the role of other sectors in delivering services, is recognized, a full review of aspects beyond the health system was considered outside the scope of work.

Applying the framework and notion of health systems, as first indicated in the World Health Report 2000 (16), the review has looked to understand health services delivery as a core health system function. Approached in this way, health services delivery has been defined as a function of its processes, seeing these as an indication of its unique contribution to health systems, and thus, offering greatest explanatory power to rationalize its performance. Using a functional approach to health systems, this work has not differentiated between different types of services (e.g. primary care, day care, emergency care, specialized care, long-term care, palliative care, rehabilitative care) or specific interventions provided (e.g. health promotion, diagnostic care, emergency services, etc.). In a similar way, settings of care (e.g. ambulatory, in-patient, residential, community, home) or the different facilities where services are delivered (e.g. general hospital, polyclinics, primary care centre, etc.) have not dictated the review itself. It is assumed findings on the goals, processes and system inputs for services delivery are applicable across each of these more descriptive properties of services.

### Methods and sources of evidence

This work has adopted the methods of a scoping review (39,40). Three main approaches to data collection were taken. This includes: (1) a literature review of analytical frameworks, tools for monitoring and evaluating health systems and health services delivery and strategies on focused health improvement areas (e.g. HIV/AIDS, NCDs, TB); (2) a horizontal analysis across documented experiences of countries in the WHO European Region, in their efforts to reform health services delivery taken nationally, regionally or in specific communities and settings of care; and (3) a review of findings from parallel topic-specific reports commissioned to experts. With the intention to build upon existing concepts as far as possible, the available frameworks and tools for monitoring and evaluating health systems and health services delivery have constituted the main source of evidence.

#### 1. Analytical frameworks and tools for health systems and services delivery

Consolidating and aligning earlier works of WHO and its Regional Offices on health systems and health services delivery, notably (2,16,41–46), served as the starting point for this work. Concepts and frameworks developed by international partners and in academia with a focus on services delivery have additionally been closely reviewed (47–53). An analysis of the approach for strengthening health services delivery adopted by thematic programmes and strategies, has also been included, looking specifically to the approach taken in order to improve services for vaccines (54,55), NCDs (17,54), TB (18,56), HIV/AIDS (19,57) and maternal and child health (20). The interim global strategy on people-centred and integrated services delivery (8) and European health policy, Health 2020, and related health system documents (14,22), are among those most recent works reviewed in an effort to keep at pace with current priorities and concepts.

Documents reviewed were primarily collected by hand searching websites of relevant organizations. This was complemented by searching databases including GIFT, WHOLIS and PubMed. Each database was searched on health services delivery and related topics, including primary care, primary health care and integrated services delivery. The reference lists of documents deemed relevant for analysis were additionally consulted and expert recommendations were solicited. The works reviewed are listed in Annex 1.

#### 2. Experiences from countries

To validate and refine findings of the document analysis, first-hand experiences of Member States in transforming health services delivery, have been analysed. These experiences have offered unique insights into the realities of health services delivery in practice, signalling the multi-level dynamics at play. This has subsequently, enriched the interpretation of the function, accounting for services delivery processes as well as the relative levels at which these are carried out in real-world health systems.

Country-specific examples captured as case profiles, have been developed through varied methods including a web-based public questionnaire, key informant interviews conducted in-person and at-distance, a review of project-specific reporting. These experiences, spanning all 53 Member States of the WHO European Region, are documented in full elsewhere (58).

The approach of each initiative to reform health services delivery varies widely. Notably, these differences include: their specific aims, being driven by differing health needs and bottlenecks in health services delivery; their scale of implementation, from national to regional or local, facility-specific efforts; and in their stage of reforms, from initial piloting, to further rollout or national scale-up. In an effort to account for their differences, country experiences have been reviewed with attention to describe the nature of the changes activated. We have interpreted these efforts to reason their underlying aims, crossed then with findings from the literature to refine the core processes of services delivery captured. The respective key informants for each case have reviewed the drafts and validated their accuracy.

#### 3. Commissioned reports

A series of working papers and reviews have been commissioned to experts on a sub-set of topics. These working papers were prepared between 2013 and 2015, adopting varied methods to review the literature, policies and experiences on topics such as integrated health services, health system accountability and health workforce competencies. The authors here have overseen the development of each; undertaking a final review to extract, analyse and report on the findings. Contributing experts to these working papers have been noted in the acknowledgements.

### Overview of sections

Responding to the key questions posed has in-turn informed the sections of the document, each summarized in brief as follows.

#### Section one: performance outcomes for measuring health services delivery

This first section looks to strengthen the linkage between the performance of services delivery and improvements in health outcomes. To do so, a problem-based approach is defined, looking to specify the measurable properties of services delivery in association with the performance of the health system. A causal chain, as an analytical tool for sequencing these associations, offers an ordering for reasoning the link between health system inputs (e.g. the competencies of the workforce) to processes and outputs of services delivery (e.g. the comprehensiveness of interventions and coordination of services) and in-turn, intermediate health system outcomes (e.g. responsiveness and equity) and health impact (morbidity and mortality). Clarifying the measurable

contribution of health services delivery is of particular importance in order to strategically guide interventions and assess and monitor their effects.

#### Section two: health services delivery processes defined

There is a degree of consensus on some well-established requirements, as the processes to be undertaken, for health services delivery. In reviewing the literature and experiences of countries, this section looks to define the function by exploring its unique processes; avoiding a description of what services *ought* to be and focusing rather, on those factors that can be acted upon. Strengthening services delivery necessitates actions across different levels of the health system: from the context of national policies and priorities, to a regional perspective serving a defined catchment area, and at the level of frontline health workers, at the very core of services delivery. These levels have been accounted where deemed relevant to give context to how these processes appear in practice.

#### Section three: enabling health system conditions for services delivery

Finally, as health systems thinking reasons, changes in one aspect of the health system has repercussions on others, and thus, the distinct parts of the system must feedback on one another in alignment to optimally perform. Looking across the literature and empirical evidence, the interactions between health services delivery and the health system's other functions of governing financing, resourcing human resources, medicines, technologies and information, are explored.

In addition, a **glossary of key terms** has been prepared as a reference for those technical terms described throughout the document. Definitions have been adapted from the literature reviewed for consistency in concepts described here.

# **Section one**

# Performance outcomes for measuring health services delivery

Reforms led in countries to strengthen health services delivery are found to consistently share a common starting point: a clearly defined, well-articulated problem. In order to sharpen the case for undertaking reforms, many initiatives have worked to quantify these performance challenges according to outcomes. An obstacle to this task appears to arise in attempting to reason the root causes of problems, facing constraints to disentangle and measure the contribution of health services delivery from the multiple factors affecting health system performance.

The challenge to specify the performance of health services delivery in practice, mirrors the difficulty to arrive in the literature to a commonly accepted framework for defining health services delivery performance measures. There are in fact many definitions and characterizations of how health services 'ought' to be while the specific way in which services are operationalized will vary by context, as will the relative emphasis given to its measures. However, there is still a need for a structured approach to reason causality that can distinguish services delivery from other health system outcomes, providing the potential to account for the sub-optimal performance of health services and strategize actions accordingly.

In reviewing the literature and learning from the practical experiences of countries, the critical links that connect root causes of sub-optimal services delivery to ultimate system performance goals have been reasoned. To do so, performance outcomes that can be uniquely attributed to health services delivery are highlighted as a reflection of how decisions across health services delivery processes dictate outcomes. Those outcomes that are measurable, where concrete variables can be identify, have been prioritized as the most relevant to the process of strategizing reforms and informing targeted policy interventions.

The result is illustrated as the common input-process-output-outcome sequence, where health services delivery outcomes are measured by comprehensiveness, coordination, effectiveness and person-centredness (Figure 1.1). These are differentiated from commonly described health system outcomes of quality, accessibility, and efficiency, seeing these outcomes as composite measures resulting from the interaction of health services delivery and the other health system functions of governing, financing and resourcing. Based on review findings, in what follows the outcomes of health services delivery are first described according to their common characterization, with examples of indicators for measurement.

Impact	Health system outcomes	HSD outcomes	HSD Processes*	Inputs*
Health impact (level	Quality	Comprehensiveness	Selecting services	Governing
and distribution)	Accessibility	Coordination	Designing care	Financing
	Efficiency	Effectiveness	Organizing providers	Resourcing
		Person-centredness	Managing services	
			Improving performance	

### Figure 1.1 Health services delivery causal chain: health services delivery outcomes

\*HSD processes refer to those processes of health services delivery described in section two and inputs refer to those other health system functions described in section three.

# Comprehensiveness

Comprehensiveness in health services delivery describes the provision of services that accounts for the complexity of interactions between biological, behavioural and psychosocial factors over the lifetime and according to an individual's needs in the context of other needs (59). Comprehensiveness measures the ability of health services to mobilize a range of population interventions and individual services along a broad spectrum of care. This includes services related to health protection, health promotion and disease prevention as well as diagnosis, management, treatment, long-term care, rehabilitation and palliative care (41,50,60). Comprehensive services can be described as whole-person-focused, with services delivery having the foresight to anticipate and account for the different routes an individual's health needs may direct them, with this being reflected in the diversity of available services. For example, a comprehensive approach to increasing breast cancer screenings, includes also the availability of timely diagnostic testing after an abnormal mammogram and appropriate treatment for breast cancer, as needed (61).

The benefits of comprehensive services on health outcomes are well documented (7,62). Contributing to gains are factors including greater success of treatment, finding multiple interventions more likely to be successful than single factors (63,64); an increased uptake of preventive care such as blood pressure screening, mammograms, pap smears as well as health promotion to reduce risky behaviours (65); improved care-seeking behaviours, as people more readily use services if it is known a comprehensive range is offered (7); improved cost-effectiveness in primary care (66); and consistently lower hospitalization rates for preventable complications of chronic, ambulatory care sensitive conditions (65–67). Additionally, comprehensive services have been found to minimize the potential for fragmentation resulting from highly specialized, often siloed service packages, that may result, for example, in the treatment of an individual's TB without considering their HIV status or whether they smoke (7).

Measures for comprehensiveness typically capture its performance by the properties of inputs, for example the range of resources in practices (e.g. physical premises and equipment) and the technical skills of health professionals (41,68). As an outcome of service delivery processes, comprehensiveness can be captured in relation to the actual provision of activities, including for example, the range of services employed for prevention and education in primary care.

Selected population and individual health services extend across a broad care continuum and across life stages, to include services from health protection, health promotion and disease prevention to diagnosis, management, treatment, long-term care, rehabilitation and palliative care, for services that are whole-person facing, adapted from (8,41,50,51).

						-		
Table 11	Examples of	measures	for the	compre	hensiveness	of	services	deliver
	Examples of	incubulco i		compre	1011314011033	<b>U</b> 1	301 11003	activer

Measure	Example indicator
Output of services and activities (e.g. rehabilitation; prevention; education;	Proportion of older people (65 years and over) who were offered rehabilitation services following discharge from acute or community hospital.
etc.)	Consolidated score for the provision of prevention and educational services provided by GPs based on selected services (scored as total on number of items)

Source: adapted from (69) and (68)

The resultant of the selection, design, organization, management and improvement of services in a specific episode of care and in the provision of services at intervals overtime and across the life span to promote the best results.

# Coordination

Coordination describes the degree to which health services proactively tunes the organization of health providers and the management of services, to implement the design of care, according to the optimal sequence of interventions. Coordination of services delivery processes then measures the extent to which services and providers and, by extension, the related infrastructure, referral and information systems, for example, are well-organized both in a given episode of care and overtime according to an individual's needs (8).

Lack of coordination is widely considered to be one of the key causes for poor quality of care with fragmented care or care insufficiently coordinated found harmful to patients (70) and inefficient, for reasons including duplications in diagnostics tests, inappropriate treatment and at times, conflicting rather than complementary services (71). Several studies suggest positive associations between improvements in coordination with health status, levels of coverage and quality (72–76). Poor coordination has been attributed to unnecessary suffering for patients, avoidable readmissions to hospital, surplus emergency room visits, increased medical errors and higher health costs (77).

In the literature, coordination of services can frequently be found as an indicator for the extent to which the processes of services delivery are coordinated. This often means measuring the presence of multidisciplinary teams as a proxy for the extent to which a patient's care is delivered by clinicians and staff who regularly work together in an integrated way to serve patients and their families (69). Reasoning the coordination of services as a composite of the performance across all processes of services delivery, then coordination can be reported by measures such as avoidable readmission, described by the rate of readmission or fall prevention, as a comprehensive measure of coordination capturing elements such as the number of home safety evaluations conducted.

#### Table 1.2 Examples of measures for the coordination of services delivery

Avoidable in-patient careLower limb amputations in people with diabetes.Fall preventionNumber of home safety evaluations conducted.	Measure	Example indicator
Fall prevention Number of home safety evaluations conducted.	Avoidable in-patient care	Lower limb amputations in people with diabetes.
	Fall prevention	Number of home safety evaluations conducted.
Avoidable readmission Readmission rate likely to indicate a problem with prevention or community-based care.	Avoidable readmission	Readmission rate likely to indicate a problem with prevention or community-based care.

Source: adapted from (69).

The extent to which the delivery of services adopts a person-facing perspective, including selecting services according to an individual's needs and known risks, designing care to engage patient's in decision-making, organizing providers to realize their delivery, with management and improvement mechanisms in place towards optimal bealth outcomes

### Person-centredness

Person-centredness puts focus on the individual: the patient. The measure is closely related to the concept of people-centred health systems; where people-centred health systems account for the crucial role of health system functions to ensure services are oriented towards an individual and population's needs (14) and person-centredness measures the extent to which the provision of services consciously adopts a person-facing perspective in practice. Person-centredness is an outcome across processes of services delivery, including for example, the selection of services according to an individual's needs and known risk factors or the design of care to engage patient's in decision-making.

Reporting person-centredness of services may include aspects of care continuity, described as the extent to which a series of discrete services or health care events are connected, coherent and consistent with a patient's health needs, personal circumstances

(78) and preferences (42). The degree of continuity is evaluated based on an individual's experience of services (40,78–81) with some frameworks for assessing continuity of care extended to include also the views of informal caregivers and family members (82).

The growing evidence base demonstrates adopting a person-centred perspective by way of developing enduring and meaningful relationships in health services delivery, is an important predictor for quality in chronic disease management, reproductive health or mental health (83). In primary care, promoting continuity and ongoing patient communication has proven a cost-effective intervention associated with a reduction in resource utilization (50,84). Contributions to improved outcomes have also been recorded with improved continuity of care contributing to lower all-cause mortality as well as reduced hospitalizations (85), fewer consultations with specialists, better detection of adverse effects of medical interventions and improved prevention services (7). Service outcome improvements may also include better access to appropriate levels of care, better quality of care (86,87) and, in general, more positive experiences with services received (86).

Relevant measures for reporting on patient-centredness are most likely to be collected in surveys of patient experiences. Work has been initiated to develop standard survey instruments however, they are often not routinely conducted and evidence to-date is not necessarily comparable across countries<sup>2</sup>. Patient-centredness can also be measured as the proportion of people who use services who say that those services have made them feel safe and secure or the proportion of patients with involuntary admission or involuntary treatment (69).

Table 1.3	Examples of	measures for	the person-ce	ntreaness of se	rvices delivery	

Table 1.2. Evenesias of second states the second second second

Measure	Example indicator
Patient satisfaction	Proportion of people who use (social) services and their carers who reported that they have had as much social contact as they would like.
Patient/family experience of service providers	Asking patients (and to a lesser extent families) about the extent to which care is person-centred.
Source: adapted from (49)	

a for a second a second a literation of

### Source: adapted from (69).

### **Effectiveness**

Looking across outcomes of health services delivery, while care may be comprehensive, coordinated and person-centred, the optimal provision of services should also ensure interventions achieve the desired outcomes (89). Reported as the effectiveness of services, this measure signals the correct provision of evidence-based health care (16,89), promoting services that are consistent with current professional knowledge and best-available research.

Measuring the effectiveness of services delivery is often captured by the acceptability and appropriateness of services and also by its direct contribution to quality (89). Thought to in this way, effectiveness may be reported by hospital admission rates for ambulatory

The extent to which services are delivered, in line with the current evidence-base, for the optimal delivery of services for desired outcomes, adapted from (88).

<sup>2</sup> Since the late 1990s, international efforts have been made to collect patient experience measures through surveys developed by the Picker Institute, and Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems surveys by the US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. WHO also collected different dimensions of patient experience in its 2000-01 World Health Survey, and the Commonwealth Fund's International Health Policy Survey has been collecting patient experience data every three years since 1998. Since 2006, the OECD has been involved in developing and validating a tool to measure patient experiences systematically. In order to measure general patient experiences in health care system, the OECD recommends monitoring patient experiences with any doctor rather than asking patients about their experiences with their regular doctor.

care sensitive conditions, such as asthma, or rates of anti-microbial resistance, caused in-large part by the inappropriate prescribing or use of antibiotics.

Reporting on the effectiveness of health services often takes a clinical focus, with patient records and administrative data the main source of information. Lack of standardized, electronic patient files, often limits the extent to which measuring effectiveness at the national level is possible.

Table 1.4 Examples of measures for the effectiveness of services delivery

Measure	Example indicator
Appropriateness of care	Proportion of deliveries by Caesarean section (88). Hospital admission rate for asthma (3).
Anti-microbial resistance	Proportion of aminopenicillins resistant enterococcus faecalis isolates.
Source: adapted from (69)	

Source: adapted from (69).

# Health system outcomes

Other measures of performance contributing to health outcomes beyond health services, yet within the boundaries of the system's performance, can be attributed to intermediate performance measures or 'health system outcomes' (90). Varied terms and measures are used to describe these intermediary effects and their link to health. Some are widely discussed and heavily influenced by health service delivery outcomes. These can be captured as measures of quality, efficiency and access (3,47,48,90) (Figure 1.2). While the health system's performance on these measures is ultimately a composite of the contribution of each system function, in reviewing these outcomes, the specific link with the performance of health services delivery is described.

Figure 1.2 Health services delivery causal chain: health system outcomes

Impact	Health system outcomes	HSD outcomes	HSD Processes*	Inputs*
Health impact (level and distribution)	Quality Accessibility Efficiency	Comprehensiveness Coordination Effectiveness Person-centredness	Selecting services Designing care Organizing providers Managing services Improving performance	Governing Financing Resourcing

\*HSD processes refer to those processes of health services delivery described in section two and inputs refer to those other health system functions described in section three.

> Quality. The multidimensional nature of quality has presented a challenge to arrive, with clear consensus in the literature on how it can be measured. This is evidenced by the number of varied dimensions relied on in framing and reporting on quality as an outcome of the health system.

> Indeed, quality is a composite of many factors such as the standard of medicines determined by the resourcing function, or quality assurance practices like accreditation reflecting on processes of governance. Nevertheless, a line can be drawn to extend from the processes of services delivery and its outcomes, denoting the contribution of services to overall quality. Thus, while the health system's performance on quality measures will not be predicted alone by services delivery, the contribution of its processes can in any case, be distilled.

Health services are often said to be of quality if measured as effective and centred on a patient's needs, as described, while also safe and delivered in a timely fashion (3). Safety for example, can be measured as the degree to which care processes avoid and prevent adverse outcomes or injuries that stem from the processes of care itself (89). Measuring the contribution of health services to quality can be reported in a variety of ways; comparing patient records or be measured indirectly by outcome data like rates of adverse events or unintended harm.

Measure	Example indicator
Patient safety	Reduction in adverse events. Unintended harm from medications in people aged over 65 dispense with five or more long-term medications (83).
Amenable mortality	Number of avoidable deaths for treatable conditions, including infections, cancers, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, injuries, maternal and infant conditions (91).

#### Table 1.5 Examples of measures for the quality of services delivery

Source: adapted from (69).

Efficiency. The system's efficiency describes the optimal utilization of available resources to yield maximum benefits or results (90). The contribution of services delivery to the efficiency of the health system reflects the extent to which services are selected, designed, organized, managed and improved for the delivery of those services to yield maximum outputs given available resources. Reporting the contribution of services delivery to the efficiency of the health system includes measures on the productivity and the optimal use of capacity in the provision of care.

#### Table 1.6 Examples of measures for the efficiency of services delivery

Measure	Example indicator
Productivity	Length of stay for selected tracers (88).
Use of capacity	Inventory in stock for pharmaceuticals. Occupancy rate.

Source: adapted from (69).

Access. Access describes the extent to which services are directly and permanently accessible, with no undue barriers of cost, language, culture or geography (3). The measure of access captures also the extent to which a person obtains needed care despite possible physical, financial, social-cultural and psychological barriers. Access is often measured as a proxy of physical availability of health services or health service providers, for example, distance travelled to health facilities, opening hours for consultations or waiting times for elective surgery. It can also be reported by the distribution of health workers, for example, as the ratio of nurses to physicians, the balance of generalist and specialist physicians, or the share of midwives versus gynaecologists.

	Table 1.7	Examples of	measures for	the access of	f services	deliverv
--	-----------	-------------	--------------	---------------	------------	----------

Measure	Example indicator
Working hours	Extended hours are implemented to facilitate access to care.
Outreach services	Proportion of health facilities offering outreach services.
Provider workload	Number of patients per GP. Number of office consultations per day per GP; or home visits per week per GP; or working hours per week per GP.

Source: adapted from (69).

# **Section two**

# Health services delivery processes

Motivated to accelerate improvements in health outcomes, reformers have looked to identify the root causes of sub-optimal health services delivery performance. This has called attention to the composition of the health services delivery function in order to adjust bottlenecks that fall within the boundaries under the purview of the function itself. Following the functional approach to health service delivery function. The ability to distinguish processes that pertain to health services delivery function from the other system functions, allows for those unique and single contributions to the health system to be accounted for and to recognize their interaction contributing to final outcomes.

Despite its multifaceted nature, it is possible to identify recurrent subsidiary processes of the health services delivery function. Synthesizing across the evidence reviewed, five key processes are signalled. The sequencing and specificities of each will inevitably vary by context.

Selecting services	Entitlements Population health needs assessment Types of services
Designing care	Standardization of practice Pathways Transitions
Organizing providers	Role and scope of practice Delivery settings Practice modalities
Managing services	Plans and budgets Resourcing Operations Measurement and problem-solving
Improving performance	Learning mechanisms Clinical governance

#### Table 2.1 Overview of the health services delivery processes

The subsidiary processes of the health services delivery function can be described as follows.

- Selecting services. The prioritization of health services for a clearly defined population in order to equitably promote, preserve and restore health throughout the life course, ensuring a broad continuum, from health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, diagnosis, management, treatment, long-term care, rehabilitation to palliative care can be provided according to an individual and the population's need.
- Designing care. The development of service paths that standardize a course for services according to best-available evidence, planning pathways for services delivery and mechanisms to manage transitions between types and levels of care, while also accounting for the personalization of services to match an individual's unique needs.

- Organizing providers. The alignment of the health workforce to match selected services and their design with the distribution of professional roles and scopes of practice and the arrangements in which the health workforce works according to settings of care and practice modalities for the provision of services.
- Managing services. The process of planning, budgeting, aligning resources, overseeing implementation and monitoring of results to maintain a degree of consistency and order in the delivery of services and act upon observed deviations from plans by problem-solving and troubleshooting as needed.
- Improving performance. The process of establishing feedback loops that enable a learning system for spontaneous testing and adoption of adjustments towards a high standard of performance, made possible through cycles of continuous learning and the regular review of clinical processes.

Types of care	Services	Settings	Facilities	Health workforce
Health protection	Addiction services	Ambulatory	Ambulance	Allied health professionals
Health promotion	Ambulatory	Community	Day-centres	Community health worker
Disease prevention	Catering & hygiene	Home	Fledsher assistance points	Executives
Diagnosis	Chiropractic care	In-patient	General hospital	Feldshers
Treatment	Diagnostic care	Residential	Health centre	Family assistants
Management	Emergency		Hospice	Family provider
Long-term care	Family planning		Home	General practitioner
Rehabilitation	Health promotion		Housing facilities	Home helper
Palliative care	Home care		Individual or group practice	Informal caregiver
	Minor surgeries		Laboratory & diagnostic	Lay health worker
	Orthopedic		centres	Paramedic
	Pain management		Nursing home	Pharmacist
	Pediatric care		Outpatient department	Physician
	Physiotherapy		Physiotherapy centre	Physiotherapists
	Psychotherapy		Polyclinic	Managers
	School health		Primary care centre	Midwife
	Specialist care		Rehabilitation centre	Narrow specialist
	Specific programs		Sanatoria	Nurses
	Surgical procedures		Specialist hospital	Specialists
	Telemedicine		Tertiary hospital	Social workers
			Walk-in treatment centres	Therapists
				Nutritionist
				Volunteer

### Table 2.2 Health services delivery: services, settings and providers

Notes: This summary has been developed following a review across country specific reports (n=30) of the Health Systems in Transition Series published between 2010 and 2015. Definitions of terms can be found in the Template for Authors and glossary of terms in each report.

# Health services delivery described: Services, settings, providers, levels and actors

### Services, settings and providers

Health services delivery it is often characterized as a composite of at least three key properties: services, settings and providers (table 2.2). *Services* denote the types of care delivered, typically clustered around services for health protection, health promotion,

disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, management, long-term care, rehabilitation or palliative care, with the specific services provided characterized by the specific population interventions and individual services delivered, such as family planning, minor surgeries or pain management. *Settings* describe services delivery by the different types of facilities, institutions and organizations that provide services, where facilities include clinics, health centres, district hospitals, dispensaries or other entities such as mobile clinics, pharmacies and homes. Finally, the *health workforce* can be classified as private or public, for-profit or not-for-profit, formal or informal, professional or nonprofessional, and by the varied trainings and scopes of practice that distinguish the profiles of providers, from nurses, primary care physicians, and specialists, among others (21).

### Levels and actors

The way health services delivery processes are carried out can be discerned by two key properties: the different actors of services delivery and the varied organizational levels where they have influence.

Actors for health services delivery are defined as those individuals, organizations, groups or coalitions with both an interest at stake and capacity to mobilize power over the function of services delivery<sup>3</sup>. In general, the profile of key actors and their contribution to the processes of services delivery can be organized by the macro, meso and micro level of services, described as follows, with common actors influencing each summarized in table 2.3.

- Macro: system-level. This overarching, all-encompassing level is often made synonymous with policy, as the context in which the direction and architecture of institutional arrangements is set (93). Actors at the macro-level include, for example, the ministry of health and other government units, state or republican centres, arm's length institutions, medical schools and large national research institutes.
- Meso: organizational-level. This level of services delivery describes where policy takes shape in practice, by interpreting and operationalizing aims and objectives for application according to the scope of a defined sub-set of the population (94). The spectrum of organizations at this level can vary widely by context, based on the institutional arrangements of regional and district authorities among other sub-national entities (94).
- Micro: clinical-level. The most operative level of services delivery, the micro level refers primarily to those processes for the provision of clinical and non-clinical services, typically engaging the health workforce, health managers, health administrators and clinical providers as well as patients, family members and other carers.

The intricacies between these levels and the varied number and profiles of actors that influence each is captured when crossed with the health services delivery processes of selecting services, designing care, organizing providers, managing services and improving performance. As table 2.2 indicates, the role and responsibility of each

<sup>3</sup> This role is differentiated from stakeholders, to emphasize power relations, as stakeholders may be affected one way or another by the outcome of reforms, yet may have little capacity to affect how reforms are defined, decided upon and put in operation. In this way, actors are always stakeholders, but not all stakeholders are actors.

level for these processes varies, with the selection of services and design of care for example, leaning on macro, system-level actions as part of the overarching steering and standardization of services. Other processes, like managing services and improving performance, rely rather on the meso and micro level to carryout key actions closer to the actual provision of services.



Macro: system-level	Meso: organizational-level	Micro: clinical-level
Ministry of health	Regional health authorities	Health professionals
Units within ministry of health	Local health authorities/trusts	Health managers
Prime minister's office	Health boards	Patients
Ministry of finance	Law enforcement agencies*	Family members & care givers
State or republican centres	Health related NGOs	Non-governmental health providers
Medical schools, training institutes and	Business associations	Hospital boards
health policy schools	Accreditation agencies*	Primary care centres/units
Bilateral agencies	Auditing agencies*	Clinical leaders
Think tanks	Unions of health workers*	Quality teams
Research universities	Associations of health professionals*	Community and social workers
Procurement agencies		
Health insurance funds		
Media and communication outlets		
Institutes of public health		
Statistic offices		

Note: alignment by levels has considered where the roles and responsibilities of actors are directed. Actors with (\*), denotes those where this mandate differs from their status as national, regional or local bodies. For example, accreditation agencies, while often a national actor, carry out their mandate working subnationally.

Table 2.4	The role of the	macro, meso a	and micro	levels of servi	ces across HSD	processes
10000 211		1110000 0			000 001 000 1100	p10000000

HSD processes	Macro: systems-level	Meso: organizational-level	Micro: clinical-level
Selecting services	+ + +	+ +	+
Designing care	+ + +	+ +	++
Organizing providers	++	+ + +	+
Managing services	+	+ + +	+ +
Improving performance	++	+ +	+ + +

Note: (+) have been assigned along a gradient from (+ + +) denoting greatest to (+) least roles and responsibilities. The assigned influence is relative and based on general trends in the frame of how processes are described to follow.

### Health services delivery processes

The description and specification of the five core processes for selecting, designing, organizing, managing and improving services delivery have been reasoned through a prioritization of those properties acted upon in countries or signalled in the literature. The systematization of factors describing each process is not exhaustive. Moreover, 'who' (which actors) and 'where' (what level) processes of services delivery are carried-out reflect general trends and ultimately require tailoring to a given context for accurate interpretation.

The prioritization of health services for a clearly defined population in order to equitably promote, preserve and restore health throughout the life course, ensuring a broad continuum, from health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, management, long-term care, rehabilitation to palliative care can be provided according to an individual and population's needs, adapted from (48,63).

### Selecting services

The process of selecting services calls attention to the prioritization of what health services are to be provided to a target population in order to meet health needs and its determinants. The contents of care described as core population interventions and individual service can be characterized as those evidence-based, high impact, cost-effective, affordable, acceptable and feasible services critical to achieve expected health gains (95). For example, the detection and management of hypertension is a core service to improve cardiovascular health just as increased tax on tobacco is a core population intervention for smoking related cancers. In some instances, trade-offs need to be made in selecting core services, such as resource constraints that inevitably require setting priorities in determining which services to devote resources to (1).

Ideally, the selection of services draws from a well-founded understanding of the population and its health needs, while also promoting equity with consideration for risks and vulnerabilities for different segments of the population (7,63). Recognizing that multiple factors jointly determine health, the delivery of services is challenged to provide an array of interventions, at times simultaneously, responding to individual episodes of care and their effect cumulatively over the life course. This is in addition to the regular maintenance of health and well-being. Thought to in this way, the selection of services adopts a person-facing orientation to meet all health needs – in contrast to a disease-specific programme that concentrates on specific services within the scope of focus for that disease. Realizing this in practice relies on closely engaged patients, their families and caregivers in decision-making about their own health and considering available options based on their values and preferences (96).

In the WHO European Region, Member States have led a number of initiatives to strengthen the selection of services. For example, introducing palliative services for end-of-life care like in the case of Serbia and incorporating rehabilitation and occupational therapy services following improved treatment outcomes in Switzerland and the Netherlands. Across countries, in response to population health needs, particular emphasis on expanding the delivery of health promotion and disease prevention services have been recorded in order to ensure a range of services in the community support behaviour change and broader lifestyle adaptations (97).

Shifting perspective to view population needs has proven greater potential to synergize with services beyond the health domain, like the social and education sector (59). Cross-sector approaches have been activated in a number of countries, linking, for example, parental education and day care services for healthy child development like in the case of Bosnia and Herzegovina's for integrated childhood development centres (98). Similarly, strengthening mental health services has been shown to extend types of services to align with social service interventions for both acute and continuous needs and expanded community supports (e.g. finding employment opportunities) like in the case of Belgium and Cyprus.

From these efforts and based on the literature, the selection of services can then be described by a defined package of entitlements, a demand-driven, equity-enhancing orientation for the selection of services based on needs for a given population, and the specification of health services across a broad continuum, from health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, management, long-term care, rehabilitation and palliative care as the services to be provided according to an individual's needs.

While the roles and responsibilities of actors typically engaged in the process of selecting services span across levels of health services delivery, the selection of services is arguably skewed towards the macro level. These decisions trickle down throughout the

system, determining at the micro, clinical-level, what services are available to go about the selection process with patients in defining a tailored package of services. Nevertheless, the initial decisions taken by national actors like the ministry of health in its stewardship role and other national agencies, are relied on to determine a core package of services. The process of doing so should reflect overarching priorities and population needs, involving negotiations to include the considerations of health insurers, financers, and other sectors.

### Table 2.5 Examples of measures for selecting services

Measure	Example indicator
Population risk and needs stratification	Use of health information, administrative and population data in annual review and planning processes, advocating for equity and increased resources to disadvantaged groups and communities (48). Use of scenario planning in the selection of services (48).
Individual risk and needs	Are clinical patient records from GPs used in identifying health needs and priorities? (68).

### Entitlements

Formulating a service package and defining entitlements describes the process of determining a core set of interventions to be provided to all people based on needs. A minimum set of core population interventions and individual health services have been proposed in areas such as NCDs (17), TB (99), HIV/AIDS (19), and maternal and child health (20), based on evidence for their effectiveness and feasibility for implementation (100). Nonetheless, the exercise of specifying a core package of entitlements is a value-laden process, looking to decision-makers and system stewards to establish a strategic policy position and equitable framework for protected access to health services when faced with competing priorities.

How entitlements are defined has been aided by tools such as the WHO's Package of Essential Noncommunicable Disease Interventions for Primary Care (100) or disease specific strategies, recommending a set of core services. Using current population data, as well as data projections regarding population demographics and the burden of disease, along with data collected through patient and community engagement processes, a tailored service packages can be identified.

### Box 2.1 Population stratification to tackle chronicity in the Basque Country

The Basque Country is one of seventeen autonomous communities in Spain. In 2009, the Basque Government launched a system-wide strategy to tackle the challenge of chronicity in the context of an ageing population and increasing burden of chronic illness. The strategy leans on the implementation of fourteen top-down and bottom-up mid-term projects, which drive initiatives to improve upon prevention and promotion services, patient autonomy, continuity of care and adapted interventions. These efforts first and foremost adopt a population focus through the stratification and targeting of the population (106). In 2010, as part of the implementation for the first priority area, a statistical tool was developed based on data of drug consumption, hospitalization, medical diagnoses of primary and specialized care, and socio-demographic data for each patient, producing a predictive index locating the individual on a scale of risk for needed assistance (110). By anticipating needs, this effort has aimed to maximize resources and prevent health complications, and to reorient the mentality from a 'patient' focus to that of a 'population'. By 2013, of the more than 860,000 chronic patients in the Basque Country, 50,000 had been stratified, selected and classified as intervention groups at core risk levels for the selection of interventions in adapted population plans designed by local 'microsystems' in place. (111).

Which population interventions and individual health services are provided as part of the benefits package? What are the needs, risk factors and known vulnerabilities for the defined population that the delivery of health services aims to serve?

### Population health needs assessment

The assessment of health needs for a given population, stratifying for epidemiological, demographic or geographic variables, is acknowledged as a precursor for the planning and targeting of services to manage needs and to proactively address known risk factors (59,61,101–103). This focus on population health ensures, among other planning considerations, such as financial resources, staff, medicines and supplies (see management of services delivery), that the package of services is tailored to a defined population (1).

Population stratification and predictive risk models related to the usage of health services offer vital information for the prioritization of interventions that proactively target different strata of the population based on their health status and known risks (104,105). These approaches shift the perspective of selecting services from a 'patient' focus to a 'population' focus, considering an individual's needs holistically and longitudinally, rather than solely in response to acute, episodic needs (106). The proactive selection of services in this way has been widely acknowledged as a means to reduce disparities and contribute to better health outcomes (50,61,103,105,107).

Assessments stratifying for needs and risks of a defined population has proven successful internationally, for example, by the widely recognized managed care organization *Kaiser Permanente* in the United States (108) adopting a 'pyramid of care' to target proactive, community-based interventions according to three levels of complexity (109). Similarly, in the WHO European Region the PRISM-predictive risk stratification model applied in Wales (107), Adjusted Clinical Groups in the Veneto Region of Italy and the population pyramid underpinning the Basque Country's strategy to tackle chronicity (106) (Box 2.1), are examples of health needs assessments which share an aim to segment the population through demographic data and health records by their common needs for targeted services and heightened prevention.

Importantly, these and similar techniques have a high dependency on the health system to establish the infrastructure for needed data (e.g. demographic and census data providing information regarding population density, age ranges, income marital state; Electronic Medical Record data or provider billing data regarding service utilization; patient surveys; rates of chronic conditions; availability of health resources) (see section three on information systems).

### Types of services

The types of interventions available have historically been largely dictated by individual, acute, curative episodes (50). This reactive approach is increasingly incongruent with morbidity trends, including the growing burden of chronic conditions, NCDs and multimorbidities, underscoring the diversity of health needs and the necessity to mobilize a range of comprehensive services across stages of the lifespan (7,63).

Selecting which types of services to provide in order to respond to the bulk of population and individual's health needs should be thought to across levels of care as the various stages of disease progress call on varied types of services and providers competencies (95). Screening tools and individual clinical risk assessment are examples of those resources to aid in the process of identifying clinical risks and selecting individual services. In countries such as Norway (Box 2.2), Lithuania and Malta, services delivery transformations have worked to ensure mechanisms for selecting a comprehensive package of services according to an individual's needs are activated.

What health interventions are provided, including services for health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, management, long-term care, rehabilitation and palliative care according to population and individual needs?

#### Box 2.2 Norway's comprehensive health promotion and chronic disease prevention centres

Healthy Life Centres have been supported by the Directorate of Health since 2004 as municipally planned, designed and implemented sites for preventive primary health services (112). Healthy Life Centres now cover over 200 municipalities across the country, aiming to support behaviour changes through expanded and intensified prevention and treatment services (113). Interventions provided at the Centres are tailored to the specific needs of the municipality's population. In general, these sites have expanded the care continuum to include interventions such as alcohol and drug counselling, smoking cessation, nutritional counselling, weight management, diabetes management, supports for coping with depression and services to increase physical activity and fitness (114). A comprehensive package of services is defined according to an individual's needs and provided through individual counselling, supervised group exercise, or referral to local resources such as leisure centres or sports organizations. Evaluations to-date have shown favourable results for self-perceived health and improved management of obesity-related cardiovascular risk factors following physical fitness services for adults and the elderly (115).

# **Designing care**

Designing care describes the process of developing standard service paths that systematize a course for selected services delivery according to best-available evidence. The range of clinical and non-clinical services activated in responding to an individual's health needs is often highly diverse, with the real potential for patients to become lost as they navigate the system. The process of designing care should also account for this, personalizing the route and sequencing of care to optimally match an individual's needs.

Evidence-based guidelines and protocols have come to play an important role in the process of design care, by supporting the conscientious and explicit use of best available evidence in decision-making for service provision (111). Clearly designed care, has also been found to contribute to improvements in service provision including minimizing discrepancies in core services in terms of both what is provided and how care is delivered; improving adherence or adoption to service guidelines and protocols and extending use of services across the continuum of care, particularly public health and social services or palliative care. The development of service paths that standardize a course for services according to best-available evidence, mapping transitions between types and levels of care, while also accounting for the personalization of pathways to match an individual's unique needs, adapted from (41).

Measure	Example indicator
Presence of care plan	Stroke patient discharge from hospital with a joint health and social care plan.
Existence of gatekeeping function	The frequency of direct patient visits to specialists, bypassing GPs.
Existence of care coordinator	Number of personnel and clinicians whose jobs are primarily to coordinate services from different providers for patients.
Follow up after discharge	Stroke patients who receive a follow-up assessment 4-8 months after initial admission.
Transition to rehabilitation	Proportion of older people (65 years of age and over) who were offered rehabilitation following discharge from acute or community hospital.
Discharge management	Stroke patients discharged from hospital with a joint health and social care plan.
Existence of a joint care plan	Offering or coordinating a determined proportion of recommended preventive services.
Assignment of a named person of contact	Stroke patients discharged or carers given a named person to contact after discharge.

#### Table 2.6 Examples of measures for designing care

Source: adapted from (69).

In designing services, national actors again play a key role to adopt, adapt and set national standards, as the guidelines and protocols that facilitate the uniform delivery of services according to best available evidence. Key to realizing the design of services in clinical practice is the role of meso level actors, with the oversight for programmatic and organizational arrangements including establishing the supporting conditions for managing care transitions. At the micro level, designing care relies on the tailoring of service standards in the process of strategizing personalized care plans and anticipating transitions. This process in practice should aim to support the skills and confidence for individuals to take an active role in managing their own health (96).

### Standardization of practice

The standardization of practice relies on instruments such as clinical guidelines and protocols that inform decision-making towards the optimal provision of services. Through the standardization of practice, clinical decisions can be streamlined in order to promote interventions of proven benefit and to discourage others, while also making clear their appropriate use in a given context (63,116,117).

The insufficient or inappropriate use of evidence-based clinical guidelines has been attributed to systemic unwarranted variations in medical practice; underscoring the importance of practical, up-to-date resources to aid in responding to an individual's needs (118,119). The standardization of clinical practice has also proven vital for clarifying roles and specific responsibilities of health professionals (53,103); of particular importance for shared decision-making and for supporting interdisciplinary action and managing multi-morbidities demanding tailored and simultaneous care. In a similar way, treatment guidelines and protocols have been found an important resource for overcoming clinical inertia by way of making clear when to initiate or intensify services and avoid errors.

### Box 2.3 Integrated childhood management: streamlining guidelines in the Republic of Moldova

In the early 2000s, high infant mortality rates for largely preventable causes, coupled with the momentum of the Millennium Development Goals, raised the integrated management of childhood illnesses as a national priority in the Republic of Moldova (122). Integral to the national strategy launched was the adaptation of screening protocols and guidelines in an effort to improve the usability of these resources. The importance weighted to this followed exploratory efforts observing a lack of timely and accurate screening and prevention measures, contributing to the treatment of illness at late-stages. Further inquiry brought to light the perception of the health workforce that guidelines were largely 'overcomplicated' and a challenge to apply. Measures taken to simplify guidelines aimed to lessen the range of symptoms to an absolute minimum of the most important factors in assessing a patient's condition for regular monitoring in the community. Revisions additionally sought to limit the need for laboratories and other additional equipment. In simplifying, interventions were categorized according to three clusters dependent upon the child's severity of needs: requiring immediate hospitalization, treatment as an out-patient or in need of specialized care at home. This approach improved both adherence by providers and observed gains in outcomes as symptoms of children were responded to within a more appropriate time frame, decreasing the risk of hospitalization and the number of children hospitalized at an advanced stage of illness (123).

Advancements in biomedical research and information technologies have greatly increased the potential to define effective clinical practice. Standardized methodologies, such as the Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation (AGREE) Instrument,

Are services standardized according to best available evidence with their specifications for the optimal management of health needs? have supported the standardization of processes in developing clinical practice guidelines (120). However, as the pace of new knowledge accelerates with modern research methods, there is an increasing challenge for providers to interpret and assimilate best available evidence into their practice. Responding to this challenge importantly signals the role of services delivery to follow how evidence evolves and to translate these findings into the context of existing standards (117). Increasingly, these resources are computerized, as electronic algorithms, reminders or other aids to clinical decision-making, which is thought to further accelerate their optimal use in clinical practice (121)but are rarely sufficient by themselves to ensure actual clinical use of the technology. The process from innovation to routine clinical use is complex. Numerous computerised decision support systems. The surveillance of standards and roll-out of technologies at-scale relies in large part on inputs of the health system (see section three: resourcing; information systems).

Renewing and further operationalizing clinical guidelines, protocols and other instruments for the standardization of services is a demonstrated priority across Member States. For example, in the Republic of Moldova, a lack of timely and accurate screening and prevention measures in primary care for childhood illness was found a key contributing factor to infant mortality rates for largely treatable and preventable causes (122) (Box 2.3). A core component of the multi-pronged strategy launched was the redesign of services to streamline interventions, translated into simplified provider clinical guidelines for the then newly-trained primary care workforce. This proved effective to promote the timely and appropriate use of interventions with known benefit.

### **Pathways**

Defining the sequencing and timing of health interventions, pathways for services delivery serve to minimize delays and maximize resource utilization and quality (124). They do so by articulating a route for services, visualizing how individuals are expected to progress through the delivery system, making this common and known. Designing pathways can therefore, aid in accounting for the dynamics of services, for example, how they combine and influence one another and their advantages and disadvantages in a given sequence.

In the context of the growing burden of multi-morbidities and chronicity, increasingly demanding multi-drug regimens and simultaneous treatment and rehabilitation schemes, the ability to adapt the route of services to best respond to an individual with multiple health conditions is a key challenge put to health services delivery. This means applying standardized service protocols yet providing individualized care by incorporating an individual's circumstances and preferences into the design of a personalized care plan (53,103,116).

### **Transitions**

Transitions between types and settings of care describe the explicit criteria directing a change or the simultaneous delivery of services across types and settings of care for the smooth, continuous provision of services needed in order to respond to an individual's health status. Transitions are often thought to as a linear process in which a patient transits from one provider to another. In practice, these transitions typically include a series of referrals or counter-referrals with the parallel use of services in varied settings, necessitating the sophistication of measures to allow for the simultaneous provision of services and smooth transition between providers.

Strategies to tighten transitions between services for the seamless delivery of services may look to the optimization of referral and counter-referral systems, ensuring

Are service pathways in place, designing the route for service and the settings, facilities and providers engaged for a specific episode of care and their sequence overtime?

How are services linked between health providers and across settings of care for a single episode of neec and overtime? feedback between the different settings and facilities involved in the provision of services to support appropriate follow-up (125)the health care system and health care costs. There is considerable evidence that the referral processes can be improved. The design of these systems for referral and counter-referral aim ultimately to improve quality and efficiency in services delivery by ensuring that people receive appropriate and well-coordinated care. Referral systems also contribute to efficiency by minimizing inappropriate care and duplication.

Access to services dependent on referral is one strategy to manage transitions applied widely across the Region, especially between transitions from primary to secondary care. In some instances, primary care assumes a gatekeeping function, controlling access to other services in an effort to prevent unnecessary use of more specialized care. In doing so, primary care assumes the responsibility not only for providing care but also for granting access to use more specialised services through targeted referrals (80) and directing patients to the most appropriate provider (116). The transitions relies on clearly defined roles and scopes of practice of different providers for the prevention, promotion, diagnosis, treatment and management of care, for example, within and between levels of care.

Uncoordinated transitions are widely considered to be one of the key causes for poor quality services (71,86) with fragmented care or care insufficiently coordinated found harmful to patients (70) and inefficient, due to duplication of diagnostics tests, inappropriate treatment and at times, conflicting rather than complementary services (71). Furthermore, several studies suggest positive associations between improvements in coordination with health status, levels of coverage and quality (72–76). Optimizing the fluidity of care overtime has also been recorded to improve continuity of care, reduce hospitalizations (85), improve the detection of adverse effects for medical interventions and the utilization of prevention services (7).

#### Box 2.4 Acute care community nursing for early hospital discharge in Ireland

*Caredoc* – a regional initiative to improve community interventions and reduce unnecessary hospital admissions – has incorporated Community Intervention Teams to support early discharge of patients for care to be provided at home by re-profiled community nurses. With both public health services and acute care training, community intervention teams manage a registry of patients following referral from hospitals for those meeting standardized early-discharge criteria. Prior to discharge, a tailored plan of care is established between the individual patient, their in-hospital providers and the assigned community nurse to provide services beyond institutionalized care. Any information related to treatment needs that is not in the patient's file is discussed at this appointment, ensuring the individual's goals, unique needs and their carer's information are well understood and documented.

A multi-disciplinary approach to designing service transitions for an episode of care has been shown an effective means for improving partnerships for service provision (126,127,127). For example, in Ireland, an initiative to reduce unnecessary hospital admissions introduced new clinical algorithms to be applied for patients admitted into hospital in order to assess the potential for early, acute discharge for care then coordinated by acute community nurses in their home (Box 2.4). Standard discharge procedures have been structured to ensure an in-person appointment between hospital staff, the assigned community nurse and the patient with their primary caregiver to discuss treatment needs and design a tailored plan of care for the patient once they have returned home.

Experiences from Member States also highlight the role of care coordinators to 'bridge gaps' and provide the necessary information about the experiences, skills and preferences

of the individual to personalize care plans. The care coordinators often serve as the focal agent for overseeing an individual's care supporting transitions, ensuring appropriate management of and compliance with treatments, providing health education.

# Organizing providers

The organization of providers refers to the structure and arrangement of the 'hardware' of the system – the *who* and the *where* in the production of services – matching selected services and the design of care with the organization of the health workforce and arrangements in which they work for the provision of services as envisaged. The organization of providers is, thus, a key determining factor for ensuring the design of care is actualized (22).

With a focus on the importance of life course events and providing services across a broad continuum of care, an equally broad range of providers, care settings, organizations, institutions and so forth, have important contributions to make for the performance of services delivery (2,21,103). To treat an individual's health needs, numerous providers may be called upon in different settings and in different capacities (such as consultations for diagnosis, development of treatment plans, counselling, rehabilitation, etc.) (2).

Eliminating professional silos and fostering meaningful collaborations are important properties in organizing providers that requires viewing a broad continuum of health professionals and services, including also informal or voluntary care providers and social care groups (65,128,129) rather than looking to the level of care (e.g. primary care; secondary care).

While strengthening the organization of providers calls for actions across the macro, meso and micro levels of services delivery, given the appropriate regulatory framework, sub-national actors have a particularly important role in order to establish the conditions in a given region or for a sub-set of the population for the provision of services.

The alignment of the health workforce to match selected services and their design with the distribution of professional roles and scopes of practice and the arrangements in which the health workforce works according to settings of care and practice modalities for the provision of services as envisaged, adapted from (47,49,63).

### Table 2.7 Examples of measures for organizing providers

Measure	Example indicator
Multidisciplinary teams	Extent to which patient care is delivered by clinicians and staff who regularly work together in an integrated way to serve patients (130–132).
Coordination between health and social services	Number and value of formal community partnerships/collaborations (133,134).
Communication between in and outpatient settings/professionals	Frequency of in-patient physicians consulting out-patient physicians on managing cases after a hospital discharge.
Organization of GPs	Number of GPs per registered and weighted practice population.
Community-based services	Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into rehabilitation services.

Source: adapted from (69).

### Role and scope of practice

National laws and regulations define the minimum standards for the procedures, actions and interventions that the health workforce is expected to undertake (6), i.e. its role and scope of practice. Recognizing the health workforce as integral in all health actions, strategizing the role and scope of practice is key to respond to a number of performance challenges. For example, distributional imbalances in providers for

What are the roles and scope of practice assigned to providers for the provisior of services? geographic, occupational or institutional factors weigh on skill-mix, which can negatively affect different properties of access (135). Stewards have the assignment to adapt and evolve the regulatory framework to ensure that the roles and scope of practice of the health workforce are optimally defined to respond to health needs.

Changes to professional roles may work through a number of approaches, including the extension of roles or skills for new or enhanced professional roles; substitution of practice, expanding the breadth of a job by working across professional divides; or by exchanging one type of worker for another; or the introduction of a new type of worker (135). This changes have been studied to varying degrees in the literature with known benefit to improving care processes (136).

### **Delivery settings**

Delivery settings describe the arrangement of providers in the various facilities, units or organizations where health services are delivered for a defined population. The way in which delivery settings are organized has been attributed to measures of performance including the accessibility of services, whereby shortfalls in relation to the distribution of human resources by settings of care pose barriers to adequately responding to local needs (11).

In the context of trends including demographic changes, hospital downsizing and shorter lengths of stay, across the Region a number of strategies to reorganize delivery settings have looked to introduce new sites for delivering care, including homes, community centres and small hospitals, acute care centres and pharmacies. Changes in settings of care have also been accelerated by advancements in technologies allowing previously more invasive procedures to be delivered in non-specialized facilities and with greater engagement of patients and their caregivers.

New medicines have also allowed more care to be provided in the home, introducing earlier or acute discharges from hospital. In Bulgaria, for instance, the introduction of home care centres has sought to improve the organization of interventions to ensure the elderly and co-morbid populations have optimal access to health and social services in the community (Box 2.5). Linking to the traditional role of 'home helpers', home care centres have proven an effective mechanism for delivering social care and disease management services.

# Box 2.5 Developing Home Health Care Centres in Bulgaria for improved access to community-based care

Over the course of nine years, the Bulgarian Red Cross has set up 12 Home Health Care Centres to improve the provision of services for older adults and co-morbid patients with care closer to home. Employing nurses and home-helpers to support the delivery of primary care and social care services, Home Health Care Centres have organized providers to best support patients in managing their needs, found to increase a patient's potential for self-help and to motivate them to invest in efforts to achieve greater independence.

Other strategies applied in the Region to improve the organization of delivery settings have looked to co-locating services; shifting the site of services delivery to introduce a common setting of care (e.g. running a hospital clinic in a primary care facility). In Odessa, Ukraine, for example, triple pathology suites were introduced to bring HIV services, TB services and supports for injection drug users 'under one roof'. This organization of service has been

n which facilities, units, nstitutions, organizations or other places are health services provided? established at the regional oblast TB dispensary as three consecutive rooms, providing a range of services previously offered at separate facilities now on an outpatient basis.

### **Practice modalities**

Practice modalities or the arrangements of practices refer to the environment within which the health workforce operates. This can be structured in a number of ways, from single-handed practices to those with few or many providers working together. Each arrangement differs by the extent to which providers are intertwined to share clinical goals, care planning, the delivery of care or performance assessments, for example.

Reconfiguring practice modalities to strengthen the relationship between health professionals has been attributed to improvements in the exchange of clinical information (62), with recorded gains in the coordination of services (137,138), patient satisfaction (139) and health outcomes (139). Practice modalities that facilitate regular cross-specialty exchanges have also been found to contribute to the consolidation of clinical competencies, while also developing more personal relationships and mutual respect for other professionals (140).

Moreover, improvements from multidisciplinary teams within and between levels of care is also well documented in a growing number of intervention studies (141). With lack of physician time a major contributor to shortfalls in the delivery of a broad range of services, the organization of primary care teams to include members such as physician assistants, nurse practitioners, dietitians, health educators and lay coaches have been proven an important means for addressing unmet needs (75,142). Multi-professional working arrangements have also been found particularly important to encourage a culture of teamwork, in contrast to more traditionally hierarchical professional structures and siloes in services delivery (103),(143).

#### Box 2.6 Mixing disciplines in the development of mental health services in Cyprus

In an effort to improve the provision of services and better coordinate psychiatric care within the broader health system, Cyprus has undergone a long-term reform to reorganize psychiatric services from largely institutionalized, highly specialized hospital settings, to primary care with improved linkages to general hospitals. Out-patient clinics are located in both urban and rural health clinics and linkages to newly established Community Centres and rehabilitation units have been defined across the country. Following reforms, providers are now distributed between institutional mental health care and community services, with the introduction of 'community mental health nursing' as a profession. Community Centres are staffed by a multidisciplinary team of providers, including: psychiatrists, occupational therapists, psychologists and community mental health nurses. Within these teams, 'liaison officers' are in place (typically the role of community mental nurses) who are responsible for facilitating the exchange of information across providers. Meetings convening the team of providers take place in hospitals or Community Centres, serving as a means to exchange information, communicate patient needs and promote interdisciplinary learning.

In countries across the Region, reorganizing practice structures has been widely implemented, including the use of multi-professional teams of health professionals such as family physicians, nurses, dietitians, social workers, pharmacists, physiotherapists and social care agencies among others (68). Multi-professional teams for rehabilitation services, for example, have been applied in Austria for geriatric patients and in the Netherlands for oncology patients, to expand the scope of services provided and as an effective strategy to reduce hospital re-admission rates. In Cyprus, in a similar effort

What is the structure of practices within which the health workforce is organized? to extend the scope of services and support community-based care for mental health services, multidisciplinary teams of providers, including psychiatrists, occupational therapists, psychologists and community mental health nurses have been designed (Box 2.6). Decreasing hospitalizations for psychiatric patients overtime has supported further investment in community-based care and out-patient clinics.

### Managing services

Managing services refers to the oversight of operations, to bring about order and consistency in their day-to-day delivery (144); the ability to do so being vital to cope with complexity and guide operations in the production process to secure optimal outcomes (145). These tasks include ensuring services are running smoothly, that the right people are in the right jobs, that people know what is expected of them, that resources are used efficiently and that all partners in the production of services are working together to achieve a common goal (2,48,63).

More specifically, core managerial tasks include planning and budgeting in order to ensure targets or goals are set and steps to achieving goals are defined, aligning resources needed to accomplish those plans, establishing institutional relationships that cross the boundaries of sectors, delegating responsibilities and establishing meaningful working relations for implementation, and controlling and problem-solving by adopting a results-oriented approach to observe deviations from plans, troubleshooting in response to findings.

The strength of this process weighs in part on the level of autonomy held by managers, dictating their decision-making authority related to planning and budgeting, resourcing, overseeing operations, problem-solving; a key predictor of the degree to which services and their arrangements are tailored to the community's needs.

The process of manager services, therefore, puts a strong focus on the roles and responsibilities of actors at the meso and micro level of services delivery. Experiences from countries demonstrate the challenge of executing managerial processes, related in particular to reasons of insufficient authority, unclear organizational structures and lacking resources including time, money and skills.

#### Table 2.8 Examples of measures for managing services

Measure	Example indicator
Planning services	Existence of annual review and planning process at facility, district and/or provincial levels (48).
Implementation of performance evaluation tool	Tracking and reporting a standard measure of in-person access to care.
Supervision	Health professionals at all levels use health information for management and periodic evaluation (48).

Source: adapted from (69).

How are services planned and budgeted for a defined patient population subnationally?

### Plans and budgets

Planning and budgeting services describes the task of ensuring goals and targets are set, that steps to achieving those goals are defined and that resources to accomplish those plans are activated and aligned (144). Adopting the vision and strategic direction of those governing the system, managing services looks to translate those overarching goals and directions into clear, operational plans establishing detailed processes and operative instruments and guidelines, to ensure that changes to achieve the vision defined are met.

The process of planning and budgeting, aligning resources, overseeing implementation and monitoring of results to maintain a degree of consistency and order in the delivery of services and act upon observed deviations from plans, by problemsolving and troubleshooting as needed.
From country experiences, the clear mandate and authority to plan and budget care for a defined population has been shown a key predictor for the degree to which national plans are tailored to apply to a specific context. Managing planning processes sub-nationally has supported the strength of local partnerships, bringing unique and meaningful links across sectors for service provision. Despite the widespread recognition for its importance, managerial capacity for planning and budgeting services sub-nationally is found, in general, to be sub-optimal across countries.

#### Resourcing

Appropriate resource management aims to ensure that all resources – including the built infrastructure, non-clinical equipment, technologies and human resources – are allocated for the delivery of services (1). Worldwide, several important shifts in the resourcing of systems have had marked implications on the way in which services are delivered. This includes in particular, advancements in pharmaceuticals introducing new drug treatments, therapies and innovative technologies that have enabled new forms of information exchange, introduction of new points to access services and involvement of patients in the delivery of care.

The process of managing services in the context of health services delivery puts focus specifically to overseeing the introduction and use of resources in practice while the introduction of new resources are described further in section three with regards to the resourcing function of health systems.

Across the Region, the strategic use of technologies in services delivery, particularly in primary care, have shown to contribute to the provision of health promotion and prevention services (146),(147). Strengthening the use of technologies has been linked to improvements in planning and care coordination; linkages across health and social services are recorded in addition to improvements in planning and the ability to identify high-risk patients for more targeted care (53,103,148).

# Box 2.7 Aligning resources across the Eastern Lithuanian Region for improved cardiology services

In the early 2000s, unfavourable mortality rates in the eastern region of Lithuania, largely determined by a high percentage of deaths from cardiovascular diseases, sparked a regional initiative out of Vilnius University Hospital Santarisku Klinkikos to remodel cardiology services (149). Working across primary care, regional hospitals and the tertiary University Hospital in the capital of Vilnius, a core area of activity included an investment in resources including clinical tools, information technologies and training services for providers - improving the uniformity of services provided and enabling opportunities for more coordinated care. Supported by the Ministry of Health and European Union structural funds, a standard package of clinical equipment for diagnostics and treatment was defined by the initiative's management team according to clinical guidelines and allocated to all participating facilities, including modern cardiac ultrasounds, bicycles for stress testing and Holter's monitoring with event records. At the tertiary centre in Vilnius, novel technology was introduced for highly specialized cardiac testing and treatment. Approximately 5% of the initiative's budget was directed towards the computerization of working stations to connect across sites for the transfer of patient records, consultations with tertiary specialists through real-time diagnostics, and electronic appointment bookings through an online portal available to patients from home. Programme monitoring would ultimately report over time an increase by over 20% in cardiology services provided at the secondary level, paralleled by a 6% decrease in highly specialized in-patient services; a finding attributed in part to the heighted capacity of district and regional hospitals to respond to cardiac health needs (150).

How are resources, as the built infrastructure, non-clinical equipment and technologies and human resources needed for the delivery of services managed, including their initial investment, distribution and maintenance or upkeep? Is the implementation of plans overseen in order to ensure health services delivery is carried accordingly?

#### **Operations**

Managing implementation puts focus to overseeing the roll-out of plans in practice. This includes executing necessary trainings or in-service workshops for staff, supervisory visits to facilities, and other mechanism to ensure requirements are carried out effectively. These processes share in their aim to facilitate productive interactions across all stakeholders, taking on the challenge to bridge diverse cultures, distribute responsibilities, delegate authority, facilitate open dialogue and reveal and challenge assumptions that limit implementation.

From country experiences, managing cross-sector interactions in the actual provision of services has made great progress in addressing the wider determinants of health and development (151)describing coverage and equity of primary health care as well as non-health sector actions. These 30 countries have scaled up selective primary health care (eg, immunisation, family planning. Across the Region there are a number of successful examples of initiatives to institutionalize services delivery across sectors, in countries including Finland (152), the UK, Switzerland, Israel, Italy and Austria (153) as well as across member countries of the South-Eastern European Health Network (154). The careful management of day-to-day operations has proven its importance for ensuring a tailored approach to addressing health needs is indeed, put into practice.

## Measurement and problem-solving

A results-orientation ensures the management of services purposefully promotes a high standard of care through the critical review of clinical and managerial processes. This task leans on accountability arrangements, ensuring public managers, as the 'translators' of policies into practice have the mandate, information and resources, both financial and non-financial, to hold actors accountable for their performance (155). From survey data and experiences of Member States, few health managers are found in practice to have the tools and authority (e.g. budget control or hiring-and-firing ability) to effectively take on the task of monitoring performance and problem-solving accordingly (156).

# Box 2.8 Multi-health professional practices – shared group performance targets and goals in France

National reforms in France have favoured the regionalization of services, increasing regional and local agency in the planning and organization of services. At the practice level, shifting away from the traditional structure of doctors and nurses in individual practices, reforms have supported the reorganization of providers into group practices of multi-health professionals (in French, *maison de santé pluri-professional* [MSP]); bringing together primary and first contact providers to deliver coordinated services for shared patient registries. In 2014, approximately 300 practices have been established across the country, composed of 5 to 20 health care professionals, often including a mix of physicians, nurses, midwives, psychologists, dentists, physiotherapists and, in some instances, certain secondary specialists (157).

In 2010, co-financing of group practices was introduced, aimed to motivate improvements in the organization of services and further development of inter-professional cooperation (157). Contracts with group practices stipulate fixed-rate funding for expected quality improvements and efficiency of care, without obligations in the way allocated resources are distributed, encouraging self-managed efficiency in group practice structures and appropriate investment in technologies and medical supplies, necessary infrastructure, and personnel according to combined patient registries. Each site is responsible for choosing a minimum set of performance indicators from a national list, assessed as a composite 'quality of practice' measure for practice reporting.

Is the performance of health services delivery measured in accordance to previously set targets; are future actions to respond accordingly taken? In order to closely monitor results versus established plans and ensure that critical variables remain consistently within a tolerable range requires the availability of appropriate control mechanisms for taking action when deviations are detected (63). Facilitating open dialogue through discussion platforms and consensus building conferences as well as opportunities for experimentation including designing pilot projects and demonstration cases, are some of the ways countries have been effective in trouble-shooting where improvements in performance are called for.

# Improving performance

Processes for continuously improving performance refer to those systematic and recurrent efforts that aim to safeguard the performance of services delivery, creating a learning system by monitoring clinical processes, systematizing feedback loops and allowing opportunities to continuously improve upon services (117,158). Through this process, a spotlight is put to those institutional conditions that systematically undermine the potential for services delivery to uphold set standards. Continuous and iterative reflection processes are therefore in contrast to approaches that direct blame for medical errors and compromised patient safety onto individual providers and their performance (6,41,117).

Establishing continuous performance improvement in services delivery calls into focus in particular two broad categories of activities: establishing a learning system with a focus on continuing educational activities and self-learning and an assessment model with emphasis on improving clinical processes (159).

Creating a system of learning includes also promoting a culture of life-long learning and career development, ensuring that basic standards of care are maintained and that opportunities are available to complement previous learning with a practical focus (160-164). Effectively implementing continuous professional development relies principally on actors sub-nationally, primarily at the meso and micro level to closely engage with providers, cultivating practice-based learning and a common transformative culture (117).

Table 2.9 Examples of measures for improving performance

The process of establishing learning and the regular adapted from (48,49,63).

Measure	Example indicator
Audits	Number of times in the past 12 months hospital discharge audits were completed to determine if care was provided in the most appropriate setting.
Continuous professional development	Educational programmes or training subsidies are available for personnel at the first level of care. Number of hours GPs report to spend on professional reading per month.
Quality improvement	Proportion of facilities where quality improvement teams have been established.

#### Source: adapted from (48,68)

#### Learning mechanisms

Creating a system of life-long learning aims to involve health professionals in continuing education, designed to keep providers abreast of developments in services delivery and clinical knowledge while providing a system of professional accountability, ensuring the basic standards of care do not fall below an accepted range. It ensures that the health workforce is continuously aware of the population's needs and circumstances; increasing practice skills to respond accordingly. Systems of life-long learning call attention to principles of collegiality and autonomy, fuelled by a sense of responsibility and peer pressure (117).

learning and innovation,

Continuing medical education and professional development is found the most widely used approach to effectively improve clinical practice and health outcomes (159). There is substantial evidence that investments in different types of clinical education lead to improvements in services delivery, the consolidation of taught knowledge and skills from initial education and ultimately, improved patient health outcomes (165),(166).

A number of flexible ways to promote continuous professional development are identified, varying from ad-hoc trainings, spanning from a few days to weeks or months and at varied intervals of repetition. Such trainings are found to frequently target the advancement of new clinical skill, competencies in communication and teamwork or the use of new equipment. Other common approaches for continuous professional development include in-service trainings or seminars, international exchanges, study abroad or study tours, conferences and temporary placements for observational learning (167).

#### Box 2.9 Remote learning for health professionals in Croatia

The establishment of the Central Health Information System (CHIS) by the Croatian Heath Insurance Fund in 2007 marked a change in professional culture, fostering an appreciation for the collection and dissemination of accurate and reliable data. Providers were required to undertake training through online tutorials, however this educational opportunity was insufficient to meet provider's need for increased communication. Ultimately, an application was added to the CHIS which would allow providers to consult each other, share professional experiences and open channels of communication between types of services across setting and facilities for services delivery. The information system is also a database for providers to share and search information needed for their practice. Professionals are virtually exposed to the different experiences of other providers in the region, promoting continuous learning and enhanced clinical confidence.

## Clinical governance

Processes to assure that care is in accordance with defined standards, including feedback on findings, are essential for systematically examining services across the care pathway, mapping clinical processes to identify systematic gaps, causes of variation and to test improvements necessary (53). Adopting methods for clinical governance ensures the impact of new care models are assessed while also allowing for reflection on lessons learned to inform subsequent changes. This cycle of review and reflection adds to what has been described as a culture of innovation or learning (103,168).

Clinical audits, quality circles, operations meetings and reporting techniques on services such as patient satisfaction surveys and patient reported outcomes, have proven their effectiveness as approaches to review care processes (168). Reviews find, for example, audits and feedback on performance has an important impact on professional practice, ensuring the health workforce is equipped to modify their practice where evaluations show inconsistencies with a desired target (169). Improved quality of care has been recorded applying techniques including self-assessment (170), multi-source feedback (171,172) and patient reported outcome measures (173). By incorporating a standard approach for the measurement of quality across levels of care, improvements in the quality of clinical services have been found by resolving sub-optimal performance from across the service continuum and not simply moving them downstream (174).

Tools used for auditing clinical processes in countries have been found to frequently include, for example, interviews and case-based oral examinations, quality management

Are processes for regularly reviewing services delivery in accordance with set standards and designs, with actions to address suboptimal performance while also responding to emerging needs in place? circles or groups, record reviews, peer-ratings, patient satisfaction questionnaires, internal audits mechanisms and observing patient encounters (box 2.10).

#### Box 2.10 Peer auditing of health services in Turkey

In 2010, following a series of citizen's complaints regarding unnecessary health interventions, the Turkish Social Security Institution (SSI) examined their reimbursement data, noticing trends towards increasing hospitalization rates and excessive diagnostic tests being run by select departments. Following discussions with the Ministry of Health and local NGO's, the SSI took it upon itself to design a national auditing programme, designed to reflect on the safety and quality of care being delivered. A pilot project auditing ICU admissions was quickly expanded to a national programme in 2013, following its initial success. A set of routine steps to conduct medical audits across institutions has since been implemented with a total of 15 audits having been completed or planned to date. This process begins by attracting a commission of experts from the Ministry of Health, local NGO's and universities, who gather to compare reimbursement data against national protocols, working to determine which services should be audited. A questionnaire and indicators for the audit are then designed and chosen by experts in the field. A series of randomly assigned institutions across the public, private and university owned facilities are asked to participate in the audit and are responsible for answering questions within an online database. Following the submission, the commission of experts evaluates the information and generates a series of results and recommendations for each institution. If the feedback is negative, it is up to the institution to work to improve services delivery, the Provincial Health Directorate continues to conduct annual follow up assessments to ensure progress on any recommendations given by the commission. This practice illustrates both an appreciation for the importance of data in establishing an understanding of the current status of services delivery, and acts as necessary step in improving and optimizing care through the feedback on current practices.

# **Section three**

# Enabling health system conditions for services delivery

The processes of selecting services, designing care, organizing providers, managing services and improving performance define a boundary for thinking to the unique role of the health services delivery function. The utility of doing so is the ability to prioritize actions and hold the function accountable for the performance of processes directly under its control.

Nevertheless, the processes of services delivery are closely weaved into and heavily determined by factors beyond the scope of the function. The other health system functions of governing, financing and resourcing have a direct influence over the performance of the services delivery function (Figure 1.1). Causes of sub-optimal services delivery performance can also be inferred beyond the scope of the health system, such as a country's economic or development status, illustrated by the underpinning context.

Experiences from countries signal the important role of each health system function to ensure transformations are fully embedded and treated as *core business* in order to achieve scale. Without this full alignment, a significant degree of local leadership and commitment to maintain services delivery changes is often needed for the sustainability and widespread uptake of reforms (175).

The dynamics between the health system and health services delivery are illustrated in figure 3.1. The layers shown and their ordering are deliberate, informed by systems-thinking to reason the linkages, relationships and interactions of causes found to have particular influence on the performance of services delivery (2,12). At the core of this, is people – the individuals, families and communities – the delivery of services aims to serve. The figure has also accounted for the contribution of causes beyond the health system, specifically factors that can be attributed to other sectors or the underpinning country context.



#### Figure 3.1 Determinants of health services delivery

Source: adapted from (8)

To follow, these determinants of health services delivery are described. The relevance, organization, and contribution of each of these determinants are dictated by the specificities of a given context.

- People, their families and their communities. Better health is both the purpose and the primary goal of health systems (16). People, their needs and legitimate expectations, are then rightly at the centre of services delivery, dictating the way in which the processes identified take shape. While it may appear intuitive that the specificities of services delivery are directed by the needs of populations and individual, to uphold this perspective in practice is no easy task, requiring a shift in thinking which has previously oriented the planning and contents of services around considerations related primarily to inputs.
- Health services delivery. At the interface between the population and the health system is the function of health services delivery, with a unique role to decode health needs to inform the processes put in place for services to be optimally delivered. Ultimately, the ability of the function to do so is a key predictor of the extent to which the health system is able to respond to population and individual demands for care.
- Other health system functions. Working to improve the health of populations is dependent also on the other health system functions of governing, financing and resourcing (16). Underpinning the function of services delivery, as shown, the health system can be described by its unique, enabling role to support health services delivery in setting the conditions for optimal outcomes.
- Other sectors. Working across sectors is a key and necessary principle to address the wider determinants of health towards greatest health gains. Doing so is not a new concept: intersectoral action is at the core of a primary health approach (11) and early public health policy (176). At present, in the European health policy framework, Health 2020, whole-of-government and whole-of-society actions to mobilize partners and collective actions for health and development are weighted among the top priorities (177). Linking across sectors in practice may include collaborations with the private sector and civil society organizations such as community, non-government and faith-based organizations, as well as education, labour, housing, food, environment, water and sanitation and social protection sectors (11,63).
- The context. Underpinning the health system and other sectors is the broader country context, setting the epidemiological, cultural, socio-demographic, political and economic conditions within which all other determinants take shape. Important predictors of the context may also include historical considerations, as principles of path dependencies apply and serve to potentially limit feasible interventions at present.

## Enabling health system conditions for services delivery

The dynamics of each health system function at the cross-section with health services delivery are described drawing from the evidence reviewed. The key considerations guiding the analysis of evidence have included: how do the processes of other health system functions influence health services delivery? And what are the inputs of other health system functions for services delivery?

In doing so, each health system function is framed according to its key processes as signalled in the evidence. The outputs of these processes, considered inputs for health

services delivery, predict the conditions within which the processes of health services are able to react and adjust. Accounting for these inputs and their interdependencies is needed for understanding how the health services delivery function is dependent on the health system and for aligning processes and functions.



Health system functions	What are its processes?	Example inputs for services delivery
Governing	Setting priorities	Strategic direction
	Organizing action	Accountability
	Measuring and feedback	Regulation
		Participation and intersectoral partnerships
		Organizational adequacy
		Transparency
Financing	Collecting revenue	Affordability
	Pooling	Allocation of resources
	Purchasing	Provider and user's payment
Resourcing		
Human resources for	Planning and forecasting	Workforce availability
health	Educating	Workforce competencies
	Certifying and registering; re-certifying	
Medicines	Selecting medicines	Standardization of rational use
	Pricing and reimbursement	Access to essential medicines
	Procuring and managing supply	Product safety
	Innovating (R&D)	
Health technologies	Introducing new medical devices	Cost effective medical devices and other
	Adapting	health technologies
	Innovating	
Information systems	Defining information needs	Surveillance data
	Building platforms	Clinical information
	Data management and analysis	eHealth
	Knowledge translation and dissemination	Performance management
		Action and implementation research

# Governing

Do processes of setting priorities, organizing for action and measuring and feeding-back on performance optimally support the health services delivery function to perform? Governing describes the indisputably difficult assignment of health system stewards to bring direction, alignment and improvements to the health system (2,4). In doing so, the function of governance acts as a catalyst for alignment across all health system functions, their respective processes and actors (2). To do so, as the *World Health Report 2000* (16) described, health system stewards are called on to define the 'rules or the game' – the formal and informal rules that determine the boundaries within which the system's actors operate. Through these boundaries the governance function can be described to set an institutional framework and make explicit the way in which actors are expected to interact and perform (4,178). This includes also the conditions for actions taken across sectors, with population health a product of dynamic networks beyond the domain of the health system itself and thus, relying on the set-up and oversight of meaningful relationships linking to the education, environment and transport sector, for example.

#### Governing processes

The work of previous reviews on the topic of governance in the health sector have described governance processes, calling attention to areas that as a minimum include: setting priorities for the system's direction, organizing for action across actors and sectors and measuring and feeding-back on performance (179–181).

- Setting priorities. Governance has the responsibility to set priorities and generate policies related to these priorities. Priorities are critical for assigning financial, human and political resources towards one rather than other health improvement area becoming a highly political process of advocacy and negotiation of competing areas and interest. From this, decisions for services delivery include, for instance, the definition of benefits package and entitlements.
- Organizing for action. Governing additionally implies that priorities and policies are translated into actions backed by the means (i.e. authority, resources, time) that ensures the capacity of actors to implement those policies. For services delivery, developing alignment and harmonizing standards across actors often includes legislating service guidelines and protocols, establishing patient charters and bills of rights, or accrediting service delivery institutions and licensing agencies. Moving from policy to implementation looks to the governance function to set structures of authority, assigns responsibility and other necessary resources to increase capacity across actors for action.
- Measuring and feedback. Governance plays a key role in generating and using information to inform, assess and improve policy and performance. In doing so, it ensures on-going adjustments of services for decision-making, troubleshooting, accountability and improvements in the long-term. For services delivery, it means defining key indicators and measures for performance, establishing mechanisms for monitoring and evaluating, encouraging the conditions for performance to be measured and reported on. Translating day-to-day information into the intelligence for decision-making is also a key predictor for accountability in services delivery.

#### Box 3.1 Establishing a legal framework for patient engagement in Slovenia

In 2005, with a growing burden of type 2 diabetes, the Slovenian Ministry of Health in collaboration with the National Institute for Public Health and National Patient Association for Diabetes set the development of a strategic diabetes plan as a national priority; emphasizing the need for early diagnosis, disease management and coordination of care across primary, secondary and tertiary levels. Recognizing the imperative of active participation from both providers and patients to reorient thinking and provide the necessary momentum to establish change, in 2010 the Patients' Rights Act was passed. The Act formally requires the engagement of patients in planning health activities as well as for providers to consult patients as active participants in all phases of disease management. Formalizing a legal framework for patient engagement has also included close engagement with providers, playing a key role in consultations on the National Plan, uniting all actors around a common goal and a common dialogue to move the strategy forward into practice.

#### Inputs for services delivery

The role of governance to formulate and formalize improvements across processes of health services delivery are well recorded (182–186). From the evidence reviewed, the product of governance processes, and subsequently, an input for health services delivery are differentiated by the following.

- Strategic direction. Sequencing activities strategically is the foresight and direction offered by health system governance. This may take form of strategic plans (187,188), policies, standard operational plans and procedures (189), and targets, goals or performance measures (187), which set clear priorities and actions for services delivery. In doing so, the governance function facilitates the timely achievement of goals, while also minimizing duplication, and can promote autonomy and ownership in the process among actors.
- Accountability. Accountability arrangements make explicit the ways in which actors are expected to perform by mandating clear roles and responsibilities (190). Well-defined accountability structures and mechanisms by way of setting out a framework and making explicit how actors are expected to perform and interact are a key input for ensuring the roles assigned to actors are sufficiently dynamic, well-resourced and tended to through regular supervision. For services delivery reforms, accountability has been found a key contributor to strengthening operations and the implementation of planned designs (191–194).
- Regulation. Formalizing a regulatory framework through clear and aligned policies for services delivery is a key predictor for the way in which decisions are taken and accurately enforced (182,183,185). Governance equips services delivery with these measures, as the formal procedures (4), standards, codes of conduct (48,178,180) that direct statutory bodies and other national actors.
- Participation and intersectoral partnerships. Governance processes involve building coalitions across government actors (189) and across sectors. Ensuring the public has a voice in decision-making for health, either directly or through legitimate intermediate institutions that represent their interests, is key to participation. Governance processes are also a key predictor for the way in which different interests are mediated to facilitate broad consensus, while articulating structures and processes that allow for continuous engagement. Increasingly dynamic networks spanning across sectors has necessitated new and formal interactions with varied actors (177), relying on the strategic use of mechanisms such as inter-ministerial, interdepartmental or ad-hoc committees (177), public-private task forces (195,196), or partnerships with civil society or NGOs to foster meaningful collaborations for intersectoral action (179).
- Organizational adequacy. The institutional and organizational arrangements of the health system predict the capacity for implementation, including managerial structures, decision-making processes, formal and informal codes of conduct and the different lines of accountability (197). Organizational adequacy, therefore, reflects the overall 'fit' between the architecture of the health system and policy objectives (4).
- Transparency. The processes of governance predict the way in which interested actors are provided with sufficient, usable, relevant and timely information, by setting the procedures, structures and processes for assessment and reporting on performance (197).

# Financing

Health system financing is the responsible function for raising adequate funds for health while also ensuring people can access needed services protected from paying catastrophic or impoverishing fees (2). In this way, financing processes promote universal coverage of selected population and individual services, while also aiming to promote equitable funding and utilization, equity in utilization as well as rewarding quality and incentivizing efficiency (2,198).

Financing processes

Financing health systems are generally described by three interrelated processes: collecting revenue; pooling of funds and purchasing of service (16,198).

- Collecting revenue. The process of prepayment and collection account for the way by which health systems receive money, for example, general taxation, mandated social health insurance or voluntary private health insurance (16). These processes of prepayment are intimately linked with decisions to be taken for the selection and management of services, predicting the available funds allocated to health.
- Pooling. Pooling processes are described as the accumulation and management of revenue to distribute the risk of having to pay for services by all members of the pool. In doing so, the financial risk associated with health interventions is shared and uncertainty of costs for individuals, reduced (16), increasingly the likelihood that patients will be able to afford needed services.
- Purchasing. Purchasing accounts for the process by which pooled funds are paid to providers for the delivery of health services. Decisions concerning contracting and payment have a role across services delivery process, matching the payment of providers for inter-professional services delivery or the use of financial incentives and performance related pay for comprehensive primary care or the management of chronic illness, for example. Strategic purchasing predicts which services are purchased, how and from whom (5).

## Inputs for services delivery

There is little doubt that decisions taken in the financing processes described have important implications over the nature and quality of services (199). In particular, these choices come to condition the health services delivery by way of predicting the following.

- Affordability. The share of pre and co-payments influences the extent to which people access health services and determines the degree of financial protection they faced when accessing care.
- Allocation of resources. The volume of resources made available determines to large extent the overall level of health services that can be provided in each area of a given country, the distribution of recurrent expenditures and investment, the allocation to different types of care, services, settings and facilities. Through the allocation of funds, health services can receive dedicated lines for continuous learning opportunities, demonstration and improvement projects, specific disease programmes and determined groups of population.

Do processes of collecting revenue, pooling of funds and purchasing of services optimally support the optimal performance of the health services delivery function? Provider and user's payments. Contracting and payment of providers is one of the key tools to align the provision of health services to the policy directions, particularly in those countries with a purchaser-provider split model and/or with various purchasers. Contract with health provider can be awarded to single providers (bi-lateral service contracts) or to a group of providers creating an overarching framework contract with all parties setting out governance arrangements, risk/ reward and performance mechanisms. The way in which health providers are paid can be linked to the type, quality and quantity of services provided and to be used as incentives to reward performance. Payments to health providers can also create perverse incentives. For example, hospitals depending on reimbursement by perdiem charges may be interested to prolong a patient's length of stay or home care providers being reimbursed by fee-for-services based on time-logs may be hesitant to participate in unpaid coordination meetings with other stakeholders. This plays an important role in transforming health services by way of reinforcing desired processes and outcomes and removing financial barriers that perversely affect these goals (200) stimulating both immediate and long-term improvements. Incentive-based payment can take many forms of varying accountability and financial risk for providers. Frequent payment schemes include fee-for-services, bundle payments, pay-for-performance, pay for case management and diagnosisrelated groups, among the most commonly reported and analysed in literature (201). The optimal payment model will vary by context; each having features by design and caveats to be considered in determining their applicability (table 3.2).

Patients can also be incentivized by means of personal health budgets, waivers/ reductions of out-of-pocket contributions for specific services, flat-rate or lump-sum cash-benefits and vouchers, for instance to promote compliance with treatment plans and medication. Such incentives usually are supported by non-financial incentives concerning preventive and health promoting measures such as discounts for gym membership, privileged access to physicians outside normal hours or general measures to improve health literacy (202). Incentives for patients improve empowerment and purchasing power of users who elicit their preferences. However, they overburden users and their carers in identifying and coordinating the appropriate care, specially, if the benefits do not allow for full coverage of their health care needs.

Scheme	Evidence and caveats
Fee-for-service	Fee-for-service to reimburse practitioners or specialists is likely to incentivize over- rather than more appropriate treatment. Fee-for-service contracts tend to prevent from teamwork or multi-professional cooperation (203); administrative reporting tasks are overburdening; make difficulty to 'personalize' individual contributions to overall performance. Fee-for-service arrangements generally do not allow for reimbursement of resources dedicated to coordination or joint training activities.
Pay-for-performance	Incentivize providers to focus time and attention on types of care being measured, to the detriment of non- measured areas of potentially equal or greater importance. Existing evidence does not conclusively establish the degree of impact of pay-for-performance on outcomes with regards to efficiency and quality (204).
Bundle payments	Nudge providers to engage in partnerships for agreed procedures and interventions. Potential unintended consequences include a shift of services beyond a post-acute period to increase reimbursement. Adjustments for case mix severity can lead to up-coding whereby patients are registered as having more severe conditions in order to increase the reimbursed amount. Providers may also try to increase the number of discrete bundles to maintain their income (205).
Diagnosis-related groups	Potential reductions in hospital costs have been recorded, yet possibly detrimental for services (e.g. out-patient services, long-term care). Contributed to transparency by creating opportunities to compare performance between providers. Challenges include increased administrative efforts, reduced quality of care, mixed evidence on efficiency gains ('gaming') and problems with risk-adjustment (206).

Table 3.2	Paying	providers:	incentives	for	health	services	delivery
-----------	--------	------------	------------	-----	--------	----------	----------

#### Box 3.2 Piloting primary care fund holding for coordination of services in Hungary

In Hungary, a pilot project was introduced in 1999 in an effort to address the lack of integration between levels of care and put an emphasis on secondary services. The experiment introduced new roles for physicians and institutions to act as virtual fund holders and care coordinators, who would be paid by the national insurance fund to manage patient care. Physicians were thought to have the most information about the correct provision of services and were deemed the best individuals to manage patient care. To reinforce correct use of services, a blended model of incentives was implemented to ensure quality, improve cost-effectiveness and reduce the risk of cream-skimming or under-treatment within the system and the decision making of the care coordinators. These incentives included adjusted capitation for general practitioners, a combination of fee-for-services and DRGs for hospital and secondary care, and the introduction of bonuses for the provision of preventative services.

## Resourcing

Equipping the system with the optimal resources, including the human resources, information and communication technologies, medicines and medical devices, is central to ensuring the supportive environments, infrastructures, settings, pathways and channels is essential to the provision of services. For health services delivery, the resourcing function includes continuous reflection on the optimal mix of up-to-date inputs that allows services delivery to perform as well as to generate research for a continuously evolving and expanding evidence-base.

The resourcing function is also a vital source for the systematization and introduction of innovations, inputting new services, processes, or procedures into services delivery aimed at improving the performance and outcomes of quality, access, and efficiency (207). In doing so, innovations fill gaps in knowledge, skills and processes between what is available and what is needed in order to respond to health demands.

Services delivery relies on the resourcing function of health systems to support the meaningful introduction of innovations following technological advancements making available new medicines, health devices and information platforms, as well as health professionals, advancing the knowledge and skills of the future health workforce. The role of resources in the context of services delivery is described to follow, considering the core processes of innovating human resources, medicines, medical devices and information technologies, as well as their unique contribution to the provision of care.

## Human resources for health

The health workforce can be characterized as the front-line health professionals working directly for patients and populations, such as but not limited to, service managers and executives, doctors, nurses, midwives, pharmacists, lay heath workers, community health workers and allied health professionals (208)(6,167). Human resources for health, as a component of the resourcing function of the health system, describes those varied strategies for preparing the health workforce as well as its enhancement and exit management towards the optimal availability, competence, responsiveness and productivity of the workforce (6).

Are human resources, medicines, medical devices and information technologies in place for the optimal performance of the health services delivery function?

Do processes for planning and forecasting, educating, certifying, registering and re-certifying the health workforce support the optimal performance of the health services delivery function?

## Processes for resourcing a health workforce

While health services delivery has a role in the continuous investment and enhancement of the workforce overtime, its starting point is predicted by the contribution of the health system through the resourcing function. Key processes carried out for the preparation and enhancement of the workforce can be said to include the following.

- Planning and forecasting. The workforce planning is vital for developing the human resource capacity needed both for services delivery at present and in anticipation of the population's future health needs. Adequate preparations from the health system perspective consist on a thorough understanding of the changing burden of disease and factors that shape the demands put to health services in order to respond accordingly (167).
- Educating. The health system prepares the future health workforce to perform according to set standards. Educating health professionals relies of the continuous mobilization of new evidence into the curriculum (161,167). The process of education itself has been described as three sequential steps: initial acquisition of knowledge (informative education); socializing students around the values of their work or profession (formative education); and the final stage preparing students to be leaders and mobilize their knowledge through group, problem-based and community-based learning (transformative education) (161,167).
- Certifying, registering and re-certifying. The certification and registration of health professionals is a standardized process in the initial development of the health workforce, marking the successful completion of trainings and assessments to be recognized as a professional. In some instances, certification is followed by registration with regulatory bodies that represent the interests of the public or a professional network. Re-certification processes at regular intervals are also a relatively standard practice, in order for the system to safeguard the maintenance and continued sophistication of competencies set during initial training. These mechanisms seek to ensure health providers are up to a pre-determined standard. They can be used to rewards those individuals or institutions with exemplary performance (167).

#### Inputs for services delivery

The health workforce is a vital resource for health services delivery. The sustainability and scale of health services delivery transformations relies on the development of relevant knowledge and skills of professionals to fill the (re)defined roles and scopes of practice expected of them (183,186,209). Through the processes described, the resourcing function has a key role to input, for example, an available and competent workforce for services delivery.

- Workforce availability. Ensuring a workforce in sufficient numbers is a necessary condition for services delivery, where availability of the workforce refers to the distribution of professionals (6). While there is no set standard for assessing sufficiency, as a minimum it can be measured according to essential health needs. The correlation between the availability of health workers and coverage of health interventions finds outcomes are compromised when the health workforce is scarce (6).
- Workforce competencies. Competencies describe the essential, complex knowledge-based acts that combine and mobilize knowledge, skills and attitudes

with existing and reliable resources to ensure quality outcomes for patients and populations (167). A competent health workforce is one in which the skills to deliver the selected population interventions and individual services have been cultivated for their effective provision in line with set standards.

#### Box 3.3 New specialization in palliative care in Serbia

Introducing palliative care services in Serbia has included extensive planning to provide trainings across disciplines and levels of care on new models and guidelines. New specializations in palliative medicine became available across all Serbian medical schools in addition to the creation of a new programme in palliative social work. Formal education has served to expand the scope of practice of providers, however additional trainings were also provided to professionals focusing on patient-provider communication. The new profiles of health professionals have been defined according to these formal trainings and system guidelines. Equipping providers with formal designations has ensured the sustainability of this profession.

# **Medicines**

Medicines are a crucial commodity for health services delivery to effectively treat and manage health needs (16,21). New medicines have dramatically changes the means by which illness is prevented and pain is alleviated. Innovative drug treatments and therapies have also served to improve the management of illness in the community and at-home. The rapidly evolving field of medicines has made treatments more focused, affordable and effective, with a continued investment in research committed to the discovery, development and adoption of value-added treatment options.

#### Necessary processes for resourcing medicines

Health services delivery is dependent on the resourcing function of health systems to undertake processes that select cost-effective medicines for use, while also ensuring their adequate supply and protecting against the use of counterfeit or substandard products. Key processes typically described in this process include the following.

- Selecting medicines. Health services delivery relies on the resourcing function to select essential medicines where these are considered the necessary products to satisfy the health needs of the majority of the population. For the optimal provision of services, ensuring these medicines are available in adequate amounts, in appropriate dosages and at an affordable price is vital in order to respond to local priorities.
- Pricing and reimbursement. The process of promoting affordable and fair prices for medicines is central to universal health coverage, where affordable and fair prices are considered those that are reasonably funded by patients and health budgets (146,210). Prices for medicines are not static. Rather, they are a function of changing markets overtime and services delivery relies on the resourcing function to strategically purchase off-patent medicines as they become available and continuously measure, monitor and manage changing prices.
- Procuring and managing supply. Health systems must strategize the national purchasing and management of supply chains. This process is a guarantor for ensuring the availability of quality medicines and at a reasonable price.

Do processes of selecting medicines, pricing and reimbursement, procuring and supply management and research and development support the optimal performance of the health services delivery function? Innovating - research and development. Research and development are essential in order to facilitate the testing and use of new products, tools, standards, policies and guidelines. This process includes both innovation as well as the transfer of technology and intellectual property for use of new medicines in the delivery of services.

#### Inputs for services delivery

Through the described processes, the health system equips the services delivery with the following key inputs.

- Access to essential medicines. Services delivery is dependent on the resourcing function to control medicines prices through reference pricing, limiting what government insurance programmes pay, or directly enforcing retail price controls. Countries with a large private medicine supply system can face challenges with ensuring access and affordability of essential medicines, this posing a system bottleneck for the optimal provision of services.
- Rational use. Just as the services delivery function specifies the optimal design of services, the resourcing function through national policies, standards, guidelines and regulations, determines how medicines are to be prescribed, dispensed and sold. In doing so, clinical practice guidelines on the rational use of medicines direct optimal prescribing practices, minimizing the overuse, underuse or misuse of medicines otherwise contributing to wastage and health hazards, such as antibiotic resistance. Putting these standards into practice relies on processes of the health services delivery function such as, the personalization of drug regimes in designing care for alignment with other services and a patient's individual needs.
- Product safety. Through national laboratories conducting quality testing and developing public anti-counterfeit campaigns and market controls as well as reporting on side effects, services delivery assumes the safety of products for their use in services delivery.

# Health technologies

Health technologies describe the instruments, apparatus or machines used in the provision of services as well as equipment used for a specific purpose during diagnosis and treatment. Medical devices and health technologies are essential for the provision of services. From simple wooden tongue depressors and assistive devices to the most sophisticated implants, medical imaging systems, medical and surgical procedures, medical devices are crucial in the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness and disease across life stages (210).

The importance of medical devices and health technologies has accelerated in recent years with the advancement in technologies and biomedical engineering allowing the manufacturing and sales of instruments and appliances that enable patients to better monitor their own health. This includes, for example, self-monitoring tools for diet and exercise and blood pressure devices for hypertensive patients to record measures from home. Other important technological developments include non-invasive diagnostic techniques that can help prevent hospitalizations.

Do processes to introduce, adapt and continuously innovate medical devices and technologies support the optimal performance of the health services delivery function?

## Processes for resourcing health technologies

- Introducing new technologies and devices. The resourcing function undertakes the process of systematically evaluating the properties, effects and impacts of health technologies. The direct, intended consequences of technologies as well as their indirect, unintended consequences are made known, in order to inform technology-related policy-making in health services.
- Adapting. Health services delivery relies on the health system to systematically establish access to health technologies and medical devices that are compatible with existing resources for their consistent and coordinated use. Doing so often requires close collaboration between stakeholders across sectors working to update and synergize new devices for their use across sites and levels of care. Rolling-out new technologies relies on health services delivery to provide trainings such as in-service workshops for their consistent use in practice (211).
- Innovating. The process of continuously innovating and researching ensures the optimization of medical devices for health and quality of life in a continuously evolving field. The process of innovation should encourage interaction among ministries of health, procurement officers, donors, technology developments, manufacturers, clinicians, academics and the general public.

#### Input for health services delivery

Cost-effective medical technology. Innovative technologies enable the system as a whole to focus on the various ways in which it can better manage patient and population risk (25,30). Health services delivery relies on the resourcing function to ensure the introduction of new technologies that optimally support acute, primary and community care providers and patients to access more accurate and detailed clinical information to inform clinical decision making for example, medication and/or blood pressure changes over time (27,28,32,33,35).

Resource innovation has introduced the use of new medical technologies, such as the use of robotics in rehabilitation services (212), non-invasive procedures for diagnostics, such as the use of videoscopes to investigate tumours with 3-D images.

# Information systems

The delivery of health services is information intensive. Data is needed in many forms: health surveillance data to report on the status and changes of health needs; clinical data to inform provider and patient decision making, to optimally respond to an individual's needs in a given episode of care and overtime; facility-based data on the supply and quality of resources for health managers; outcome data to inform policy and planning efforts for evidence-based decision-making; performance data for monitoring the provision of services and performance of health providers for payment accordingly; or research and development for the continuous improvement of tools and service standards.

Health services delivery relies on the health system to oversee the processes of defining, generating, analyzing, and applying evidence for the strategic use of information, intelligence and research accessible at the macro, meso or micro level of the health system (2). Many of these processes can be improved upon with computerized information systems that enhance communication capacity and the flow of information

Are processes in place to develop information and the necessary infrastructure for its collection, management, and systematized use in order to optimally enable the performance of the health services delivery function? (103). Over the past decade, these resources have expanded and evolved to include, for example, the introduction of electronic health records for the improved management of relevant information as well as the digitalization of procedures, helping to overcome physical distances between patients and providers (213).

#### Processes for health information systems

Well-functioning health information systems ensure the definition of measures with the alignment of platforms for the management, analysis, dissemination and use of reliable and timely health information.

- Defining information needs. Generating information relies on types and measures of data being clearly defined. This requires an established set of core measures with proxy indicators and metrics and targets to track performance and inform planning and reporting cycles in a standardized approach.
- Building platforms. Embedding information and communication technology (ICT) for health relies on affordable, durable and high-speed Internet connections and the basic ICT infrastructure for linking data across the health system. Health services delivery relies on the health system to resource information systems in order to ensure the necessary investments in ICT infrastructure for the design, development and deployment of user-friendly, synergistic ICT platforms are realized.
- Data management and analysis. Health services delivery relies on information systems to oversee the collection of timely, complete and reliable data. Process of data collection should be continuous in order to monitor and assess the performance of the health system overtime. The strength of information systems weighs on the capacity of services delivery to carryout each of its processes, for example, predicting the extent to which the management of services is capable of detecting, investigating, communicating and containing events that threaten public health security.
- Knowledge translation and dissemination. The capacity to synthesize information and promote the availability and application of this knowledge is integral to innovation in health systems. Generating information is necessary yet not sufficient to ensure the effective transfer and application of data to inform the delivery of services. The exchange of information needs to be clearly defined and managed in order to optimally apply results for improvements in practice.

## Input for health services delivery

Health information systems equip health services delivery with the necessary data and means for its collection in a standardized approach, at-scale. The resultant of its processes can be described as the following.

Surveillance data. Key health trends change overtime and health services delivery must continuously adapt and evolve to respond to this. The ability of the function to do so at the macro and meso level uptakes population health data to inform decision-making, such as the selection of services to prioritize and target the population based on known needs and risk factors. The other health system functions also rely on surveillance data, for example, measuring and reporting on medicines or the re-certification of providers.

- Clinical information. At the micro, clinical-level, the use of reliable and timely information on health status and an individual's health needs ensures that changes overtime are closely monitored and appropriately responded to and that all relevant information is taken into consideration in decision-making and care planning.
- eHealth. Establishing the built physical infrastructure in a country (e.g. Internet hosts; telephone lines; mobile phones; broadband) is a minimum condition services delivery relies on the resourcing function for in order to introduce the system-wide use of eHealth. This includes minimizing potential security threats damaging trust that can undermine services by inputting the protection mechanisms against any catastrophic security issues compromising confidentiality.

Through information technology for health, innovative communication platforms including electronic personal health records for the secure record keeping of patient data and clinician health records for the exchange of health information across trusted sources relating to an individual patient in a secured and easily accessible way (207).

Patients have also benefited from new information technology for health, including websites such as WebMD that have become a source of information for patients to explore through searching tools that have made medical material more accessible than ever before. New technologies to assist homebound patients manage chronic care needs, such as simplified computer software designed to help older adults and other patients to monitor and manage their conditions from home by connecting to devices including scales, blood pressure monitors and glucose readers, recording information that can be shared with health providers over the Internet (214) (box 3.4).

#### Box 3.4 Tackling late-stage cancer diagnosis and treatment in Montenegro with mHealth

Following the recommendations of the National Cancer Control Plan in 2008, the Ministry of Health in Montenegro designed a screening programme to minimize the late diagnosis of colorectal cancer. At the primary level, this programme has partnered with national telecommunications providers, delivering an SMS screening reminder to all individuals between the ages of 59-75. While the use of cell phones and technology within this initiative is innovative, the strength of the programme lies in the improved provider network and ease for patients to both enter and move through the system. Patients are electronically referred to secondary services should, following screenings and laboratory exams, patients tests continue to return positive results. Further, using an integrated ICT system, enables all physicians participating in the patients care to be actively involved and up to date with recent results.

- Performance management. Monitoring and evaluation is integral for the continuous improvement of health services delivery performance. Information generated, for example, provides the necessary evidence to award financial incentives for providers according to selected measures. Performance measurement is also vital for quality management and is integrated to any services delivery transformation to monitor and report on results.
- Action and implementation research. One of the biggest challenges for health services delivery transformations is the lack of sufficient evidence and research on what works, how integrated care measures influence outcomes and which tools are most appropriate to implement in which circumstance. The processes of health information systems should equip health services delivery with the means to undertake research and develop innovative projects for evidence-informed transformations.

# **Final remarks**

In the context of changing health needs, transforming health services delivery plays a key role in accelerating improvements for better health outcomes. This document has attempted to consolidate and align the evidence and thinking on health services delivery, as a prerequisite for the application of concepts to support reforms in countries.

Recalling the key questions posed, review of evidence finds the following.

- What are the outcomes of health services delivery? The contribution of health services delivery to health system outcomes can be measured by the comprehensiveness, coordination, person-centredness and effectiveness of services. Measured as outcomes of services delivery, the contribution of these to health outcomes and their related causes beyond health services delivery can be reasoned through a causal chain of an adapted input-process-output-outcome sequence.
- 2. How can the health services delivery function be defined? The health services delivery function can be described by its processes: selecting services; designing care; organizing providers; managing services; and improving performance. The characteristics of each are recognized to span all layers from the *macro* health system level, *meso* organizational level to the *micro* clinical level with roles for varied actors dictating their degree of influence.
- 3. How do other health system functions enable the conditions for health services delivery? The unique contribution of each of the other health system functions of governing, financing and resourcing to the performance of health services delivery is explored. Those determining factors for transforming the delivery of services at-scale and fully embedded within the health system are made known.

The interdependencies of health services delivery processes, spanning across levels of the health system and within each level engaging different actors, in varied settings, undertaking varied activities demands an equally dynamic approach for reasoning improvements. Taking these findings forward in reforms to strengthen health services delivery has underscored one key design principle: the integration of health services. Integrated health services delivery translates the interdependencies of health services delivery processes and the underpinning health system conditions set by other system functions that need to be accounted for in order to promote aligned actions that tackle the root-causes of shortfalls.

Integrated health services delivery can therefore, be described as a vehicle for improving the alignment of the health system's functions to optimally deliver comprehensive, coordinated, person-centred and effective services. In doing so, health systems can be said to adopt a person-facing orientation, by way of supporting services delivery to take direction from the populations and an individual's needs in order to optimally select, design, organize, manage and improve services.

Integrated health services delivery is a vehicle for improving the alignment of the health systems such that core health systems functions, setting the conditions for the processes of health services delivery to optimally manage the health needs of the populations and individuals it aims to serve.

# Annex 1 Frameworks, tools and strategies reviewed

#### Frameworks

#	Title	Reference
1	Rapid diagnostic tool with performance measures for services delivery	(48)
2	Control knobs framework	(90)(90)
3	Systems-thinking for systems strengthening	(215)
4	WHO health system building blocks	(2)
5	The Bellagio Model	(216)
6	Chronic Care Model	(52)
7	Commonwealth fund framework for a high performance system	(217)
8	Framework for assessing behavioural health care	(218)
9	International Health Partners Framework	(219)
10	WHO health system performance framework	(16)
11	Integrated health services delivery networks	(63)
12	Patient-centred home care model	(220)

#### Tools

#	Title	Reference
1	Health Services Assessment	(46)
2	Health system strengthening assessment tool	(49)
3	Performance measurement in OECD health systems	(221)
4	OECD health care quality indicators	(208)
5	Surveying health systems	(47)
6	Integrated district health system assessment tool	(222)
7	Primary Care Assessment Tool (PCAT)	(51)
8	Primary Care Evaluation Tool (PCET)	(41)
9	Primary Care Monitor	(68)
10	Health systems strengthening for better NCD outcomes	(223)(222) (223)
11	Performance Assessment Tool for Quality Improvement in Hospitals	(88)
12	Service Availability and Readiness Assessment (SARA)	(44)
13	STEPwise approach to Surveillance	(224)
14	Package of Essential Noncommunicable (PEN) Disease Interventions for PHC	(100)

#### Current WHO Global and European strategies

#	Title	Reference
1	The Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020	(225)
2	The European Mental Health Action Plan	(226)
3	Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs 2013-2020	(227)
4	The European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of NCDs 2012-2016	(17)
5	The Global Plan to Stop TB 2011-2015	(56)
6	Plan to Stop TB in 18 high-priority countries in the WHO European Region 2007-2015	(18)
7	Global health sector strategy on HIV/AIDS 2011-2015	(57)
8	The European Action Plan for HIV/AIDS 2012-2015	(19)
9	The Global Vaccine Action Plan 2011-2020	(54)
10	The European Vaccine Action Plan 2015-2020	(55)
11	Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health	(20)
12	Strategy and action plan for healthy ageing in Europe 2012-2020	(10)
13	WHO global strategy on people-centred and integrated health services [interim report]	(8)

# Glossary of key terms

**Comprehensive**. Selected population and individual health services extend across a broad care continuum and across life stages, to include services from health protection, health promotion and disease prevention to diagnosis, management, treatment, long-term care, rehabilitation and palliative care, for services that are whole-person facing, adapted from (8,41,50,51).

**Coordination**. The resultant of the selection, design, organization, management and improvement of services in a specific episode of care and in the provision of services at intervals overtime and across the life span to promote the best results.

**Designing care.** The development of service paths that standardize a course for services according to best-available evidence, mapping transitions between types and levels of care, while also accounting for the personalization of pathways to match an individual's unique needs, adapted from (86).

**Effectiveness.** The extent to which services are delivered, in line with the current evidence-base, for the optimal delivery of services for desired outcomes, adapted from (88).

**Improving performance.** The process of establishing feedback loops that enable a learning system for spontaneous testing and adopting adjustments towards a high standard of performance, made possible through cycles of continuous learning and the regular review of clinical processes, adapted from (48,49,63).

**Integrated health services delivery.** A vehicle for improving the alignment of the health systems such that core health systems functions, setting the conditions for the processes of health services delivery to optimally manage the health needs of the populations and individuals it aims to serve.

**Managing services.** The process of planning and budgeting, aligning resources, overseeing implementation and monitoring of results to maintain a degree of consistency and order in the delivery of services and act upon observed deviations from plans, problem-solving and troubleshooting as needed.

**Organizing providers.** The alignment of the health workforce to match selected services and their design with the distribution of professional roles and scopes of practice and the arrangements in which the health workforce works according to settings of care and practice modalities for the provision of services as envisaged, adapted from (47,49,63).

**People-centredness.** The extent to which the delivery of services adopts a personfacing perspective, including selecting services according to an individual's needs and known risks, designing care to engage patient's in decision-making, organizing providers to realize their delivery, with management and improvement mechanisms in place towards optimal health outcomes.

**People-centred health systems.** The arrangement of core system functions of resourcing, financing and steering that reflects a prioritization of individuals, their families and communities in all decisions, creating the conditions for the provision of services that are aligned with the health needs, broader determinants of health and legitimate expectations of populations, facilitating the achievement of desired health goals.

**Selecting services.** The prioritization of health services for a clearly defined population in order to equitably promote, preserve and restore health throughout the life course, ensuring a broad continuum, from health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, long-term care, rehabilitation to palliative care can be provided according to an individual's needs, adapted from (48,63).

# References

- 1. WHO. World health report 2000 health systems: improving performance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.
- 2. WHO. Everybody's business: strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- 3. WHO. Monitoring the building blocks. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- 4. Travis P, Egger D, Davies P, Mechbal A. Towards better stewardship: concepts and critical issues. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 5. WHO. The World Health Report Health Systems Financing: The Path to Universal Coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 6. WHO. The world health report 2006: working together for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 7. WHO. The World Health Report 2008 Primary health care now more than ever. Geneva: WHO; 2008.
- 8. WHO. WHO global strategy on people-centred and integrated health services: interim report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 9. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The Tallinn Charter: health systems for health and wealth. Tallinn, Estonia: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2008.
- 10. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Strategy and action plan for healthy ageing in Europe, 2012-2020. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2012.
- 11. World Health Organization. Declaration of Alma-Ata. Kazakhstan, USSR: WHO; 1978.
- 12. Adam T, Savigny D de. Systems thinking for strengthening health systems in LMICs: need for a paradigm shift. Health Policy Plan. 2012 Oct 1;27(suppl 4):iv1–3.
- Atun R. Health systems, systems thinking and innovation. Health Policy Plan.
   2012 Oct 1;27(suppl 4):iv4–8.
- 14. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Priorities for health systems strengthening in the European Region 2015-2020: walking the talk on people centredness. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014.
- 15. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Roadmap strengthening people-centred health systems in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013.
- 16. WHO. The World Health Report 2000: Health Systems: Improving Performance. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2000.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. Action Plan for implementation of the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2012-2016. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2012.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. Plan to Stop TB in 18 high-priority countries in the WHO European Region 2007-2015. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2007.
- 19. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The European Action Plan for HIV/AIDS 2012-2015. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2011.
- 20. UN Secretary-General. Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health. New York, USA: The Partnership for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health; 2010.
- 21. van Olmen J, Criel B, Damme WV, Marchal B, Belle SV, Dormael MV, et al. Analysing health systems to make them stronger. 2010.
- 22. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Health 2020: a European policy framework supporting action across government and society for health and well-being. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013.

- 23. Christensen K, Doblhammer G, Rau R, Vaupel JW. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet. 2009 Oct 3;374(9696):1196–208.
- 24. Christensen K, McGue M, Peterson I, Jeune B, Vaupel J. Exceptional longevity does not result in excessive levels of disability. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2008;105(36).
- 25. Vaupel JW, Carey JR, Christensen K, Johnson TE, Yashin AI, Holm NV, et al. Biodemographic trajectories of longevity. Science. 1998 May 8;280(5365):855–60.
- 26. Fortin M, Bravo G, Hudon C, Vanasse A, Lapointe L. Prevalence of multimorbidity among adults seen in family practice. Ann Fam Med. 2005 Jun;3(3):223–8.
- 27. Marmot M. Social determinants of health inequalities. Lancet. 2005 Mar 19;365(9464):1099–104.
- Prados-Torres A, Poblador-Plou B, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Gimeno-Feliu LA, González-Rubio F, Poncel-Falcó A, et al. Multimorbidity Patterns in Primary Care: Interactions among Chronic Diseases Using Factor Analysis. PLoS ONE. 2012 Feb 29;7(2):e32190.
- van den Akker M, Buntinx F, Metsemakers JF, Roos S, Knottnerus JA. Multimorbidity in general practice: prevalence, incidence, and determinants of co-occurring chronic and recurrent diseases. J Clin Epidemiol. 1998 May;51(5):367–75.
- 30. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Tuberculosis in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014.
- 31. Oxford Health Alliance working group. Economic consequences of chronic diseases and the economic rationale for public and private intervention. Oxford: OHAW; 2005.
- 32. Mold JW, Blake GH, Becker LA. Goal-oriented medical care. Fam Med. 1991 Jan;23(1):46–51.
- Lopez AD, Mathers CD, Ezzati M, Jamison DT, Murray CJ, editors. Global Burden of Disease and Risk Factors [Internet]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2006 [cited 2014 Dec 3]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11812/
- Rosenmoller M, McKee M, Baeten R. Patient mobility in the European Union: learning from experiences. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2006.
- 35. European Commission. Cross-border care [Internet]. European Commission DG Health and Consumers. 2014. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/health/ cross\_border\_care/policy/index\_en.htm
- European Commission. Definition of a frame of reference in relation to primary care with a special emphasis on fianncing systems and referral systems. Brussels, Belgium: European Commission; 2014.
- 37. Yaya S, Danhoundo G. Introduction: special issue on innovations in health care system reform in OECD countries. Innov J Public Sect Innov J. 2015;20(1).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. Coordinated/integrated health services delivery kick-off technical meeting: meeting report, Istanbul, 3-5 February 2014. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014.
- 39. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol. 2007;8(1):19–32.
- 40. Freeman GK, Shepperd S, Robinson I, Ehrich K, Richards S. Continuity of care: report of a scoping exercise 2000 for the SDO Programme of NHS R&D. London: NCCSDO; 2001.
- 41. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Primary care evaluation tool [Internet]. WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2010. Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_\_\_\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0004/107851/PrimaryCareEvalTool.pdf

- 42. PAHO. Integrated health services delivery networks: concepts, policy options and a roadmap for implementation in the Americas. Washington, DC: Pan American Health Organization; 2010.
- 43. Murray C, Evans D. Health systems performance assessment: debates, methods and empiricism. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003.
- 44. WHO. Service availability and readiness assessment (SARA): an annual monitoring system for service delivery. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 45. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Performance assessment tool for quality improvement in hospitals. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2007.
- 46. Adams O, Shengelia B, Stilwell B, Larizgoitia I, Issakov A, Kwankam SY, et al. Provision of personal and non-personal health services: proposal for monitoring. Geneva: WHO; 2002.
- 47. OECD. Health systems institutional characteristics: a survey of 29 OCED countries. OECD; 2010.
- 48. Wendt D. Health system rapid diagnostic tool. North Carolina, US: Family Health International; 2012.
- 49. USAID. Health system assessment approach: a how-to manual version 2.0. USAID; 2012.
- 50. Kringos D. The strength of primary care in Europe. Utrecht University: NIVEL; 2012.
- 51. John Hopkins University. Primary care assessment tool [Internet]. 2014. Available from: http://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/johnshopkins-primary-care-policy-center/pca\_tools.html
- 52. Wagner EH. Care of older people with chronic illness. Older People Build Syst Ased Evid. 1999;39–64.
- 53. Nicholson C, Jackson C, Marley J. A governance model for integrated primary/ secondary care for the health-reforming first world - results of a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(528).
- 54. WHO. Global vaccine action plan 2011-2020. Geneva: WHO; 2013.
- 55. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The European Vaccine Action Plan 2015-2020 - Advance copy. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014.
- 56. WHO. The Global Plan to STOP TB 2011-2015. Geneva: WHO; 2010.
- 57. WHO. Global health sector strategy on HIV/AIDS 2011-2015. Geneva: WHO; 2011.
- 58. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Compendium of initiatives for strengthening coordinated/integrated health services delivery in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; Forthcoming.
- 59. Marmot M. Review of social determinants and the health divide in the WHO European Region: final report. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014. Report No.: Updated reprint 2014.
- 60. Pan American Health Organization. Renewing primary health care in the Americas. Washington, DC: Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization; 2007.
- 61. Chin MH, Walters AE, Cook SC, Huang ES. Interventions to Reduce Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Med Care Res Rev MCRR. 2007 Oct;64(5 Suppl):7S 28S.
- 62. Starfield B. Primary care: balancing health needs, services, and technology. New York: Oxford University Press; 1998.
- 63. WHO PAHO. Integrated health services delivery networks: concepts, policy options and a road map for implementation in the Americas. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2011.

- 64. Weingarten SR, Henning JM, Badamgarav E, Knight K, Hasselblad V, Gano Jr A, et al. Interventions used in disease management programmes for patients with chronic illness-which ones work? Meta-analysis of published reports. BMJ. 2002;325:1–8.
- 65. Bindman AB, Grumbach K, Osmond D, Vranizan K, Stewart AL. Primary care and receipt of preventive services. J Gen Intern Med. 1996 May;11(5):269–76.
- 66. Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. Mullbank Q. 2005;83:457–502.
- 67. Purdy S, Paranjothy S, Huntley A, Thomas R, Mann M, Huws D, et al. Interventions to reduce unplanned hospital admission: a series of systematic reviews. Bristol, UK: National Institute for Health Research; 2012.
- 68. Kringos DS, Boerma W, Hutchinson A, van der Zee J, Groenewegen PP. The breadth of primary care: a systematic literature review of its core dimensions. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010;10(65).
- 69. Health Services Delivery Programme. Integrated care in Europe: what is measured and how? Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; Forthcoming.
- Hirshon JM, Risko N, Calvello EJ, Stewart de Ramirez S, Narayan M, Theodosis J, et al. Health systems and services: the role of acute care. Bull World Health Organ. 2013;91(5):386–8.
- 71. Bodenheimer T. Coordinating care--a perilous journey through the health care system. N Engl J Med. 2008 Mar 6;358(10):1064–71.
- 72. Chew-Graham CA, Lovell K, Roberts C, Baldwin R, Morley M, Burns A, et al. A randomized controlled trial to test the feasibility of a collaborative care model for the management of depression in older people. Br J Gen Pract. 2007;364–70.
- 73. Inglis SC, Pearson S, Treen S, Gallasch T, Horowitz JD, Stewart S. Extending the horizon in chronic heart failure: effects of multidisciplinary, home-based intervention relative to usual care. J Am Heart Assoc. 2006;
- 74. Stevenson K, Baker R, Farooqi A, Sorrie R, Khunti K. Features of primary health care teams associated with successful quality improvement of diabetes care: a qualitative study. Oxf Univ Press. 2001;18(1).
- 75. Yarnall KSH, Ostbye T, Krause K, Pollak KI, Gradison M, Michener L. Family physicians as team leaders: "time" to share the care. Prev Chronic Dis. 2009;6(2):A59.
- 76. Zwarenstein M, Goldman J, Reeves S. Interprofessional collaboration: effects of practice-based interventions on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(3).
- 77. IOM. Roundtable on value and science-driven health care: the healthcare imperative: lowering costs and improving outcomes. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2010.
- 78. Haggerty JL, Reid RJ, Freeman GK, Starfield BH, Adair CE, McKendry R. Continuity of care: a multidisciplinary review. BMJ. 2003 Nov 22;327(7425):1219–21.
- 79. Reid RJ, Haggerty JL, McKendry R. Defusing the confusion: concepts and measures of continuity of healthcare. Ottawa: Canadian Health Services Research Foundation; 2002.
- 80. Saltman R, Rico A, Boerma W. Primary care in the driver's seat? Organizational reform in European Primary Care. England: European Observatory on Health Systems and Polcies Series; 2006.
- 81. Uijen AA, Schers HJ, Schellevis F., van den Boshc WJ. How unique is continuity of care? A review of continuity and related concepts. Fam Pract. 2012;29:264–71.
- 82. Freeman GK, Woloshynowych M, Baker R, Boulton M, Guthrie B, Car J, et al. Continuity of care 2006: what have we learned since 2000 and what are policy imperatives now? London: National Coordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organization R&D; 2007.

- 83. WHO. People-centred and integrated health services: an overview of the evidence. Geneva: WHO; 2015.
- 84. Sans-Corrales M, Pujol-Ribera E, Gene-Badia J, Pasarin-Rua M, Iglesias-Perez B, Casajuana-Brunet J. Family medicine attributes related to satisfaction, health and costs. 0xf Univ Press. 2005;
- 85. Saultz JW, Lochner J. Interpersonal continuity of care and care outcomes: a critical review. Ann Fam Med. 2005;3(2):159–66.
- 86. Ovretveit J. Does clinical coordination improve quality and save money? London: The Health Foundation Inspiring Improvement; 2011.
- 87. Banks P. Policy framework for integrated care for older people. London: King's Fund; 2002.
- Veillard J, Champagne F, Klazinga N, Kazandjian V, Arah OA, Guisset A-L. A performance assessment framework for hospitals: the WHO regional office for Europe PATH project. Int J Qual Health Care. 2005;17(6):487–96.
- 89. Arah O, Westerd G, Hurst J, Klazinga N. A conceptual framework for the OECD health care quality indicators project. Paris, France: OECD; 2006.
- 90. Roberts M, Hsiao W, Berman P, Reich M. Getting health reform right: a guide to improving performance and equity. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.
- 91. Health Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre. Integrated performance and incentive framework: achieving the best health care performance for New Zealand [Internet]. Health Improvement and Innovation Resource Centre; 2013. Available from: http://www.hiirc.org.nz/page/42610/draft-integratedperformance-and-incentive/;jsessionid=B22A87CCE567BAD0F49D0032EE8B7 E92?show=popular&contentType=251&section=8959
- 92. Murray F. A framework for assessing the performance of health systems. Bull World Health Organ. 2000;78(6).
- Valentijn P, Schepman S, Opheij W, Bruijnzeels M. Understanding integrated care: a comprehensive conceptual framework based on the integrative functions of primary care. Int J Integr Care. 2013;13(22).
- 94. Caldwell S, Mays N. Studying policy implementation using a macro, meso and micro frame analysis: the case of the collaboration for leadership in applied health research and care (CLAHRC) programme nationally and in North West London. Health Res Policy Syst. 2012;10(32).
- 95. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Towards people-centred health systems: An innovative approach for better health outcomes. WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014.
- 96. Ferrer L. Engaging patients, carers and communities for the provision of coordinated/integrated health services: strategies and tools. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015.
- 97. Denison E, Vist GE, Underdal V, Berg RC. Effects of organised follow-up of behaviour that may increase risk of disease in adults. Nor Knowl Cent Health Serv. 2011;
- 98. UNICEF. Strengthening Child-Sensitive Integrated Social Protection and Inclusion System at Municipal Level - Lessons learnt from Bosnia and Herzegovina. Sarajevo: UNICEF; 2012.
- 99. WHO. Implementing the WHO stop TB strategy: a handbook for national tuberculosis control programmes. Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- 100. WHO. Package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care in low-resource settings. Geneva: WHO; 2010.
- 101. Jones RG, Trivedi AN, Ayanian JZ. Factors Influencing the Effectiveness of Interventions to Reduce Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health care. Soc Sci Med 1982. 2010 Feb;70(3):337–41.

- 102. Starfield B, Birn AE. Income redistribution is not enough: income inequality, social welfare programs, and achieving equity in health. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2007;61(12):1038–41.
- 103. Suter E, Oelke ND, Adair CE, Armitage GD. Ten Key Principles for Successful Health Systems Integration. Healthc Q Tor Ont. 2009 Oct;13(Spec No):16–23.
- 104. van Baal PH, Engelfriet PM, Hoogenveen R, Poos MJ, van den Dungen C, Boshuizen HC. Estimating and comparing incidence and prevalence of chronic diseases by combining GP registry data: the role of uncertainty. BMC Public Health. 2011;11(163).
- 105. Balicer RC, Shadmi E, Lieberman N, Greenberg-Dotan S, Goldfracht M, Jana L, et al. Reducing health disparities: strategy planning and implementation in Israel's largest health care organization. Health Serv Res. 2011;46(4).
- 106. Basque Government. A strategy to tackle the challenge of chronicity in the Basque Country. Basque Country: Basque Government Department of Health and Consumer Affairs; 2010.
- 107. Hutchings HA, Evans BA, Fitzsimmons D, Harrison J, Heaven M, Huxley P, et al. Predictive risk stratification model: a progressive cluster-randomised trial in chronic conditions management (PRISMATIC) research protocol. Trials. 2013 Dec 1;14(1):1–10.
- 108. McCarthy D, Muelle K, Wrenn J. Kaiser Permanente: bridging the quality divide with integrated practice, group accountability, and health information technology. Commonw Fund. 2009;17(1278).
- 109. Garcia-Goni M, Hernandez-Quevedo C, Nuno-Solinis R, Paolucci F. Pathways towards chronic-care focused healthcare systems: evidence from Spain. London: LSE Health; 2011.
- 110. Orueta F, Del Pino MM, Beraza B, Solinis NR, Zubizarreta CM, Sarabia SC. Stratification of the population in the Basque Country: results in the first year of implementation. Aten Primaria. 2013;45(1):54–60.
- 111. Prieto L. Activation of risk stratification strategies ASSEHS project [Internet]. Engaged community for active and healthy ageing. 2014. Available from: http:// engaged-innovation.eu/discussions/activation-risk-stratification-strategiesassehs-project
- 112. Denison E, Vist GE, Underland V, Berg RC. Interventions aimed at increasing the level of physical activity by including organised follow-up: a systematic review of effect. BMC Fam Pract. 2014 Jun 17;15(1):120.
- Ministry of Social Affairs. Prescriptions for a healthier Norway: a broad policy for public health. Oslo, Norway: Helsedepartementet - Ministry of Social Affairs; 2003. Report No.: No. 16 (2002-2003) to the Storting.
- 114. Norwegian Directorate of Health. Health promotion achieving good health for all. Oslo, Norway: Helsedirektoratet Norwegian Directorate of Health; 2010.
- Stangeland S, Sevlid CH, Tjelta LI, Dyrstad SM. Norwegian primary health care: Evaluation of a lifestyle intervention program - Fysioterapeuten [Internet].
  2013 [cited 2014 Nov 14]. Available from: http://fysioterapeuten.no/Fagog-vitenskap/Fagartikler/Norwegian-primary-health-care-Evaluation-of-alifestyle-intervention-program
- 116. Grone O, Garcia-Barbero M. Integrated care: a position paper of the WHO European office for integrated health services. Int J Integr Care. 2001;1(1).
- 117. Shaw CD, Kalo I. A background for national quality policies in health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 118. Al-Omran M, Mamdani MM, Lindsay TF, Melo M, Jurrlink DN, Verma S. Suboptimal use of statin therapy in elderly patients with atherosclerosis: a population-based study. J Vasc Surg. 2008;48(3):607–12.

- 119. Brown JB, Harris SB, Webster-Bogaert S, Wetmore S, Faulds C, Stewart M. The role of the patient, physician and systemic factors in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Fam Pract. 2002;19(4):344–9.
- 120. Canadian Institute of Health Research. Agree: advancing the science of practice guidelines [Internet]. 2015. Available from: http://www.agreetrust.org
- 121. Liu J, Wyatt JC, Altman DG. Decision tools in health care: focus on the problem, not the solution. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2006 Jan 20;6:4.
- 122. Center for Health Policies and Analysis in Health. Evaluation of integrated managemnet of childhood illnesses initiative int he Republic of Moldova: years 2000-2010. Chisinau, Republic of Moldova: UNICEF; 2000.
- 123. Pattison DL, Boderscova L. Child and adolescent health services in the Republic of Moldova. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2012.
- 124. Rotter T, Kugler J, Koch R, Gothe H, Twork S, Oostrum JM van, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of clinical pathways on length of stay, hospital costs and patient outcomes. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008 Dec 19;8(1):265.
- 125. Grimshaw JM, Winkens R a. G, Shirran L, Cunningham C, Mayhew A, Thomas R, et al. Interventions to improve outpatient referrals from primary care to secondary care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2005;(3):CD005471.
- 126. Harrison A, Verhoef M. Understanding Coordination of Care from the Consumer's Perspective in a Regional Health System. Health Serv Res. 2002 Aug;37(4):1031–54.
- 127. Jackson CL, Askew DA, Nicholson C, Brooks PM. The primary care amplification model: taking the best of primary care forward. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008 Dec 21;8(1):268.
- 128. Dubois C-A, Nolte E, McKee M. Human resources for health in Europe. In: Human resources for health in Europe. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2006.
- 129. Gilam S, Schamroth A. The community-oriented primary care experience in the United Kingdom. Am J Public Health. 2002;92(11).
- 130. Piña IL, Cohen PD, Larson DB, Marion LN, Sills MR, Solberg LI, et al. A framework for describing health care delivery organizations and systems. Am J Public Health. 2015 Apr;105(4):670–9.
- 131. Sheiman I, Shevski V. Health care integration in the Russian Federation: conceptual framework evaluation, and new instruments. Moscow, Russia: National Research University Higher School of Economics; 2013.
- 132. Sternberg SB, Co JPT, Homer CJ. Review of quality measures of the most integrated health care settings for children and the need for improved measures: recommendations for initial core measurement set for CHIPRA. Acad Pediatr. 2011 Jun;11(3 Suppl):S49–58.e3.
- 133. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Behavioural health integration checklist. Advancing integrated mental health solutions (AIMS) Center. Washington: University of Washington;
- 134. Anell AL, Glenngård AH. The use of outcome and process indicators to incentivize integrated care for frail older people: a case study of primary care services in Sweden. Int J Integr Care [Internet]. 2014 Dec 15 [cited 2015 Oct 9];14(4). Available from: http://www.ijic.org/index.php/ijic/article/view/ URN%3ANBN%3ANL%3AUI%3A10-1-114805
- 135. Bourgeault IL, Kuhlmann E, Neiterman E, Wrede S. How can optimal skill mix be effectively implemented and why? Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2008.

- 136. Chen L, Evans T, Anand S, Boufford JI, Brown H, Chowdhury M, et al. Human resources for health: overcoming the crisis. The Lancet. 2004 Nov;364(9449):1984–90.
- 137. Shortell SM, Gillies RR, Anderson DA. The new world of managed care: creating organized delivery systems. Health Aff Proj Hope. 1994;13(5):46–64.
- 138. Starfield B. Continuous confusion? Am J Public Health. 1980 Feb;70(2):117–9.
- 139. Davies GP, Williams AM, Larsen K, Perkins D, Roland M, Harris MF. Coordinating primary health care: an analysis of the outcomes of a systematic review. Med J Aust [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2014 Nov 22];188(8). Available from: https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2008/188/8/coordinating-primary-health-care-analysis-outcomes-systematic-review
- 140. Berendsen AJ, Benneker WH, Meyboom-de Jong B, Klazinga N, Schuling J. Motives and preferences of general practitioners for new collaboration models with medical specialists: a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2007;7(4).
- 141. Borgermans L, Goderis G, Van Den Broeke C, Verbeke G, Carbonez A, Ivanova A, et al. Interdisciplinary diabetes care teams operating on the interface between primary and specialty care are associated with improved outcomes of care: findings from the Leuven Diabetes Project. BMC Health Serv Res. 2009;9(179).
- 142. Campbell SM, Hann M, Hacker J, Burns C, Oliver D, Thapar A, et al. Identifying predictors of high quality care in English general practice: observational study. BMJ. 2001;323.
- 143. Aiken LH, Sermeus W, Van den Heede K, Sloane DM, Busse R, McKee M, et al. Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. BMJ [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2014 Nov 21];344. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3308724/
- 144. Kotter JP. A force for change: how leadership differs from management. New York: The Free Press; 1990.
- 145. Mintzberg H. Managing. Pers Psychol. 2010;63(1).
- 146. Howitt P, Darzi A, Yang G-Z, Ashrafian H, Atun R, Barlow J, et al. Technologies for global health. The Lancet. 2012 Aug;380(9840):507–35.
- 147. Adams O, Shengelia B, Goubarev A, Issakov A, Kwankam S., Stilwell B, et al. Human, physical and intellectural resource generation proposals for monitoring. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 148. Brown L, Tucker C, Domokos T. Evaluating the impact of integrated health and social care teams on older people living in the community. Health Soc Care Community. 2003 Mar;11(2):85–94.
- 149. Laucevicius A, Abraitis V, Gaizauskiene A, Klumbiene J, Petruiloniene Z, Kizlaitis R. Eastern Lithuania cardiology project (ELCP): demographic and epidemiological situation, activiities of health care insitutions and the needs of the patients in the region. Semin Cardiol. 2005;11(4).
- 150. Training, Research and Development Centre. Study on quality and accessibility of the cardiologic health care and primary health care (family phyisician) services final report 2008. Lithuania: Training, Research and Development Centre, Lithuania; 2008.
- 151. Rohde J, Cousens S, Chopra M, Tangcharoensathien V, Black R, Bhutta ZA, et al.
  30 years after Alma-Ata: has primary health care worked in countries? Lancet.
  2008 Sep 13;372(9642):950–61.
- 152. Puska P, Ståhl T. Health in all policies-the Finnish initiative: background, principles, and current issues. Annu Rev Public Health. 2010;31:315–28 3 p following 328.

- 153. Dombois OT, Kahlmeier S, Martin-Diener E, Martin B, Racioppi F, Braun-Fahrlander C. Collaboration between the health and transport sectors in promoting physical activity: examples from European Countries. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2006.
- 154. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Opportunities for scaling up and strengthening the health-in-all-policies approach in south-eastern Europe. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013.
- 155. Brinkerhoff DW, Wetterberg A. Performance-based public management reforms: experience and emerging essons from serivces delivery improvements in Indonesia. Rome, Italy: University of Rome; 2012.
- 156. Bohmer R. Leading clinicians and clinicians leading. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(16).
- 157. Afrite A, Bourgueil Y, Daniel F, Mouseques J. The impact of multi-professional group practices on healthcare supply evaluation aims and methods for "maisons", "poles de sante" and "centres be sante" within the framework of experiments with new mechanisms of remuneration. Quest Econ Sante. 2013;(189).
- 158. Bohmer R. Managing the new primary care: the new skills that will be needed. Health Aff (Millwood). 2010;29(5):1010–4.
- 159. Merkur S, Mladovsky P, Mossialos E, McKee M. Do lifelong learning and revalidation ensure that physicians are fit to practice? Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2008.
- 160. European Union. Joint action health workforce planning and forecasting [Internet]. 2015. Available from: http://euhwforce.weebly.com
- 161. Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, Cohen J, Crisp N, Evans T, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. The Lancet. 376(9756):1923–58.
- 162. Krevesky J, Raymond C, Woloschuk M. Continuing professional development for pharmacy technicians: start of an evolution? Can Pharm J. 2012;145(3):120–2.
- 163. WFME. Continuing professional development of medical doctors: WFME global standards for quality improvement [Internet]. Copenhagen: WFME; 2003. Available from: http://wfme.org/standards/cpd/16-continuing-professional-development-cpd-of-medical-doctors-english/file
- 164. Filipe HP, Silva ED, Stulting AA, Golnik KC. Continuing Professional Development: Best Practices. Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol. 2014;21(2):134–41.
- 165. Robertson MK, Umble KE, Cervero RM. Impact studies in continuing education for health professions: update. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2003;23(3):146–56.
- 166. Smits PBA. Problem based learning in continuing medical education: a review of controlled evaluation studies. BMJ. 2002 Jan 19;324(7330):153–6.
- Langins M, Borgermans L. Competent health workforce for the provision of coordinated/integrated health services. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015.
- 168. Dexheimer JW, Talbot TR, Sanders DL, Rosenbloom ST, Aronsky D. Prompting Clinicians about Preventive Care Measures: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Med Inform Assoc JAMIA. 2008;15(3):311–20.
- 169. Ivers N, Jamtvedt G, Flottorp S, Young JM, Odgaard-Jensen J, French SD, et al. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;6:CD000259.
- 170. Davis DA, Mazmanian PE, Fordis M, Van Harrison R, Thorpe KE, Perrier L. Accuracy of physician self-assessment compared with observed measures of competence: a systematic review. JAMA. 2006 Sep 6;296(9):1094–102.
- 171. Lockyer J. Multisource feedback in the assessment of physician competencies. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2003;23(1):4–12.

- 172. Overeem K, Faber MJ, Arah OA, Elwyn G, Lombarts KMJMH, Wollersheim HC, et al. Doctor performance assessment in daily practise: does it help doctors or not? A systematic review. Med Educ. 2007 Nov;41(11):1039–49.
- 173. Marshall S, Haywood K, Fitzpatrick R. Impact of patient-reported outcome measures on routine practice: a structured review. J Eval Clin Pract. 2006 Oct;12(5):559–68.
- 174. Smyth L. Making integration work requires more than goodwill. Healthc Q Tor Ont. 2009;13 Spec No:43–8.
- 175. Goodwin N, Dixon A, Anderson G, Wodchis W. Providing integrated care for older people with complex needs: lessons from seven international case studies. London: The King's Fund; 2014.
- 176. WHO. Adelaide recommendations on healthy public policy [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1998. Available from: http:// www.who.int/hpr/ NPH/docs/Adelaide\_recommendations.pdf
- 177. Kickbush I, Gleicher D. Governance for health in the 21st century. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2012.
- 178. WHO Regional Committee for Europe. Stewardship/governance of health systems in the WHO European Region. Tibilisi, Georgia: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2008.
- 179. Barbazza E, Tello J. A review of health governance: definitions, dimensions and tools to govern. Health Policy. 2014;116(1):1–11.
- 180. USAID. Governing for better health: a targeted literature review. Cambridge: USAID; 2012.
- 181. Boffin N. Stewardship of health systems: a review of the literature. Antwerp: Institute of Tropical Medicine; 2002.
- 182. Borgonovi E, Compagni A. Sustaining universal health coverage: the interaction of social, political and economic sustainability. Value Health. 2013;16:S34–8.
- 183. Goodwin N. Creating an integrated public sector? Labour's plans for the modernisation of the English health care system. Int J Integr Care [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1 [cited 2014 Nov 13];2(1). Available from: http://www.ijic.org/index. php/ijic/article/view/URN%3ANBN%3ANL%3AUI%3A10-1-100290
- 184. Ling T, Brereton L, Conklin A, Newbould J, Roland M. Barriers and facilitators to integrating care: experiences from the English Integrated Care Pilots. Int J Integr Care [Internet]. 2012 Jul 27 [cited 2014 Nov 13];12(5). Available from: http://www.ijic.org/index.php/ijic/article/view/ URN%3ANBN%3ANL%3AUI%3A10-1-113730
- 185. Mur-Veeman I, Van Raak A, Paulus A. Comparing integrated care policy in Europe: does policy matter? Health Policy. 2008;85:175–83.
- 186. Williams P, Sullivan H. Faces of integration. Int J Integr Care [Internet]. 2009 Dec
   22 [cited 2014 Nov 13];9(4). Available from: http://www.ijic.org/index.php/ijic/ article/view/URN%3ANBN%3ANL%3AUI%3A10-1-100751
- 187. MSH. Management and organizational sustainability tool (MOST). Cambridge: Management Sciences for Health; 2010.
- 188. PAHO. Steering role of the national health authority: performance and strengthening. Washington, DC: Pan American Health Organization; 2007.
- 189. Veillard J, Brown A, Baris E, Permanand G, Klazinga N. Health system stewards of national health ministries in the WHO European Region: concepts, functions and assessment framework. Health Policy. 2011;103:191–9.
- 190. Suter E, Mallinson S. Accountability for coordinated/integrated health services delivery. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015.
- 191. Brinkerhoff D. Accountability and health systems: towards conceptual clarity and policy reference. Washington, DC: Research Triangle Institute; 2004.

- 192. Deber R. Thinking about accountability. Healthc Policy. 2014; Special Issue: 12–24.
- 193. Ebrahim A. Making sense of accountability: conceptual perspectives from northern and southern nonprofits. Nonprofit Manag Leadersh. 2003;14(2):191–212.
- 194. Maybin J, Addicott R, Dixon A, Storey J. Accountability in the NHS: implications of the government's reform programme. London: The Kings Fund; 2011.
- 195. Kirigia J, Kirigia D. The essence of governance in health development. Int Arch Med. 2011;4(11).
- 196. Ritsatakis A, Jarvisalo J. Opportunities and challenges for including health components in the policy-making process. In: Stahl T, Wismar M, Ollila E, Lahtinen E, Leppo K, editors. Health in all policies: prospects and potentials. Finland: Ministry of Social Affairs and Health; 2006.
- 197. Council of Europe. Recommendations CM/Rec(2012)8 of the Committee of Ministers to member states on the implementation of good governance principles in health systems. Brussels: Council of Europe; 2012.
- 198. Kutzin J. Health financing policy: a guide for decision-makers. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2008.
- 199. Smith P, Mossialos E, Papanicolas I, Leatherman S. Performance measurement for health system improvement: experiences, challenges and prospects. Cambridge: Cambridge Universaity Press; 2009.
- 200. Custer T, Klazinga N, Brown A. Increasing performance of health care services within economic constraints: working towards improved incentive structures. ZaeFQ. 2007;101:381–8.
- 201. Edwards N, Smith J, Rossen R. The primary care paradox: new designs and models. London: KPMG and The King's Fund; 2013.
- 202. Coulter A, Parsons S, Askham J. Where are the patients in decision-making about their own care? Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO on behalf of the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2008.
- 203. Andersson T, Liff R. Multiprofessional cooperation and accountability pressures. Public Manag Rev. 2012;14(6):835–55.
- 204. van Stock C, Bjornsson G, Goshev S. Provider incentives in social protection and health. A selection of case studies from OECD countries. RAND Europe; 2010.
- 205. Bertko J, Effros R. Increase the use of "bundle" payment approaches. RAND Corporation; 2010.
- 206. Busse R, Geissler A, Quentin W, Wiley M. Diagnosis-related groups in Europe. Moving towards transparency, efficiency, and quality in hospitals. Maindenhead: Open University Maryland Press; 2011.
- 207. Omachonu V, Einspruch N. Innovation in healthcare delivery systems: a conceptual framework. Innov J Public Sect Innov J. 2010;15(1).
- 208. Barbazza E, Stein K, Bengoa R, Borgermans L, Kluge H, Tello J. Initiatives to strengthen the coordination/integration of health services delivery in the WHO European Region: a synthesis of lessons from implementation. In International Journal of Integrated Care; 2014.
- 209. Maslin-Prothero SE, Bennion AE. Integrated team working: a literature review. Int J Integr Care [Internet]. 2010 Apr 30 [cited 2014 Nov 13];10(2). Available from: http://www.ijic.org/index.php/ijic/article/view/URN%3ANBN%3ANL%3AUI%3A10-1-100858
- 210. WHO. Health technology assessment of medical devices: WHO medical device technical series. Geneva: WHO; 2011.
- 211. Poulin P, Austin L, Poulin M, Gall N, Seidel J, Lafreniere R, et al. Introduction of new technologies and decision making processes: a framework to adapt a Local Health Technology Decision Support Program for other local settings. Med Devices Evid Res. 2013 Nov;185.

- 212. Riezenman M. Robots in rehab. The Institute. 2008;P. 6.
- 213. WHO. Connecting for Health: global vision, local insight. Geneva: WHO; 2005.
- 214. Clark D. Intel takes step into home health care. The Wall Street Journal I. 2008;p. B3.
- 215. Atun R, Mendabde N. Health systems and systems thinking. In: Health systems and the challenge of communicable disease: experiences from Europe and Latin America. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2008.
- 216. Schlette S, Lisac M, Wagner E, Gensichen J. The Bellagio Model: an evidenceinformed, international framework for population-oriented primary care. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes. 2009;103(7):467–74.
- 217. Commonwealth Fund. Framework for a high performance health system for the United States. New York: The Commonwealth Fund; 2006.
- 218. Aday L, Begley C, Lairson D, Slater C. A framework for assessing the effectiveness, efficiency and equity of behavioural ehalth care. Am J Manag Care. 1999;5:SP25–44.
- 219. International Health Partnership. Monitoring performance and evaluating progress in the scale-up for better health: a proposed common framework. WHO and the World Bank; 2008.
- 220. Centre for Policy Studies in Family Medicine and Primary Care. The Patient Centred Medical Home: history, seven core features, evidence and transformational change [Internet]. Washington, DC: Robert Graham Center; 2007. Available from: http://pcmh.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/ The%20Patient-Centered%20Medical%20Home.pdf
- Hurst J, Jee-Hughes M. Performance measurement and performance management in OECD health systems. Paris, France: OECD; 2001. Report No.: 47.
- 222. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. Assessment of health care delivery in Zawia district towards implementation of family practice. WHO EMRO; 2014.
- 223. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Health system barriers and innovations for better NCD outcomes: country assessment guide. WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013.
- 224. WHO. WHO STEPS Surveillance Manual. Geneva: WHO; 2008.
- 225. WHO. Mental health action plan 2013-2020. Geneva: WHO; 2013.
- 226. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The European Mental Health Action Plan. Izmir, Turkey: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013. Report No.: EUR/RC63/11.
- 227. WHO. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020. Geneva: WHO; 2013.

#### The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

#### **Member States**

Belgium Bulgaria Hungary Kyrgyzstan Montenegro Poland Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania Russian Federation United Kingdom Uzbekistan

# World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 Email: contact@euro.who.int Website: www.euro.who.int